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HOROWITZ v. SEVEN HAWAII JUDGES  

FOR DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS AND PROPERTIES 

 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT TO THE CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION OF THE 

STATE OF HAWAII BY LEONARD G. HOROWITZ SEEKING INJUNCTIVE 

AND DECLARATORY RELIEF, RESTITUTION, AND RESCISSION FOR 

DISCRIMINATORY DEPRIVATION OF DUE PROCESS RIGHTS, RELIGIOUS 

PROPERTY RIGHTS, RIGHT TO LIFE, LIBERTY AND FREE USE AND 

ENJOYMENT OF THE COMPLAINANTS’ PROPERTIES BY SEVEN JUDGES 

NOW COMES Complainant LEONARD G. HOROWITZ (hereafter, “Complainant” or 

“Horowitz”) pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2), filing this 

Verified Complaint with the Civil Rights Commission seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, 

restitution for damages, and rescission of illegally converted funds and real property, caused by 

seven State judges lacking any valid jurisdiction, and evidenced discriminating against the 

Complainant in the “terms, conditions, or privileges of a real estate transaction” (Id.) involving a 

religious property (hereafter, the “Property”) located at 13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana Rd., Pahoa, HI 

(TMK (3) 1-3-001:049 and 043); depriving the Complainant’s due process rights and free use, 

possession, and enjoyment of the Property. 

  Public records attached hereto provide proof of discriminatory animus, retaliation, and 

deprivation of the Complainant’s due process rights and properties, including the real Property, 

under color of law committed by the judges. Their actions are alleged to have violated the 

Complainant’s Constitutional rights, and anti-discrimination law HRS § 515-3(2) and evidence 

tampering law HRS § 710-1076; HRS § 708-830, anti-thievery paragraphs 2 and 6; and HRS § 702-

222(1)(b)(c) “Having a legal duty to prevent the commission” of these offenses, but “fail[ing] to 

make reasonable effort so to do,” inter alia. These acts resulted in the illegal seizure of the 

Complainant’s $200,000 jury-awarded funds granted by a declaratory judgment of Judge Ronald 

Ibarra of the Third Circuit Court, with subsequent illegal seizure of the Complainant’s Property 

proximal to the deprivation of said real estate transaction, purchase money, and Mortgage release.. 

These acts have aided-and-abetted the commission of theft in the first degree ‘under color of law’ 

actionable under HRS § 705-520 as a criminal conspiracy, also in violation of 42 U.S. Code § 1983. 
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I. Introduction and Factual Background 

  In 2004, the naïve Complainant was suckered into buying an “inn” and health spa (subject 

“Property”) in Hawaii’s ’drug capital’ of Pahoa from a predicate felon, convicted drug trafficker, 

and skilled con artist named Cecil Loran Lee who misrepresented the Property as a “grandfathered 

business” ideal for a world-class natural medicine clinic and institute. The deception required the 

doctor-Complainant to put down $200,000 in a non-refundable deposit, only to be promptly 

extorted to pay much more than the contracted price.  

   To settle the dispute, Island Title Co. referred the Complainant to attorney Glenn S. Hara of 

Roehrig, Roehrig, Wilson & Hara law firm in Hilo. Attorney Hara drafted for the Complainant and 

his Judeo-Christian ministry—The Royal Bloodline of David (hereafter “Royal”)—an “Agreement 

for Closing Escrow” that was subsequently altered by the Seller Lee to foreclose on the Mortgage. 

  Contemporaneously, attorney Hara was appointed to the Third Circuit Court subordinate to 

Judge Ronald Ibarra (the “Drug Court” Chief Justice), who adjudicated the foreclosure case. 

Therein Judge Hara breached his contract with the Complainant by refusing to appear as a lead 

witness at trial. Hara refused the Complainant’s attorney, John S. Carroll’s, repeated requests to 

either appear, or at least verify by affidavit Judge Hara’s personal drafting of the altered closing 

agreement. Judge Hara also refused to provide a copy of “The Hara File” evidencing Judge Hara’s 

personal involvement in the case that evidenced attorney Hara’s malpractices, alleged negligence, 

and liability in the drafting of the key document upon which Lee’s Foreclosure was based.  

   At trial in 2008, despite the aforementioned alleged witness tampering, evidence 

tampering, and hampering of justice, Lee’s Foreclosure was DENIED. The jury awarded the 

Complainant, his family, and the Royal ministry, $200,000 in Special Damages based on Judge 

Ibarra’s declaratory judgment affirming for deliberating jurors that Seller Lee’s “grandfathered 

business” misrepresentation established good cause for their $200,000 jury award. (Exhibit 8)  

   To end the case, soon after trial, Judge Ibarra ordered the Complainant to “accelerate” his 

final “balloon payment” on the Mortgage (in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated 

April 2, 2008). The Complainant was instructed by attorney Carroll to use his $200,000 judgment 

credit to supplement his $154,204.13 cash payment under the court’s promise this would end the 

case. The promise was certified by Judge Ibarra’s Amended Final Judgment filed February 22, 

2009, affirming the jury award. The Complainant made his final “balloon payment” five days later, 

on February 27, 2009, being assured this would terminate the Mortgage, the Note, and the case. 
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Following payment, the Complainant Noticed Seller/Mortgagee Lee to Release the Mortgage to no 

avail. “Mortgagee Lee” evaded these Notices and then died leaving no will.  

 Suddenly appearing at that time was attorney Paul J. Sulla, Jr. (hereafter, “Sulla”) 

purporting to represent Lee’s interests and sham heir, Jason Hester. On July 16, 2009 Sulla 

substituted an alleged sham religious corporation titled, THE OFFICE OF OVERSEER, A 

CORPORATE SOLE AND ITS SUCCESSOR, OVER AND FOR THE POPULAR ASSEMBLY 

OF REVITALIZE, A GOSPEL OF BELIEVERS (i.e., “Revitalize”) for the deceased Lee. (Exhibit 

9) That substitution, granted by Judge Ibarra, fraudulently concealed several criminal acts. That 

falsified record contained Revitalize’s Articles of Incorporation filed by Sulla with the Hawaii 

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs (DCCA) on May 26 and May 28, 2009. This public 

record contains: a) photocopied signature(s) of Lee; (b) altered date(s); (c) altered page numbers; 

and (d) the wrong signature on the General Certification page. (See: Exhibit 10). That Exhibit 9 

also contained Lee’s purported Assignment of Mortgage and Assignment of Note. These show 

execution on May 15, 2009. That preceded Revitalize’s legal existence. Sulla’s Revitalize 

corporation did not legally exist until two weeks later, when the defrauded DCCA granted the 

company’s registration. Furthermore, that Assignment of Mortgage was falsely warranted, not only 

because the purported transfer conveyed the already paid and void Mortgage, but it claimed “no 

default” therein, contrary to Lee’s lawsuit that charged Horowitz with a falsely alleged default.  

 Neglecting the aforementioned irregularities and series of perjurious filings, Sulla influenced 

Judge Ibarra months later to favor their enterprise complicit in illegal seizure of the Property, beginning 

with illegally “vacating” the $200,000 jury award. The fake justification for this taking was Seller 

Lee’s untimely Rule 50(a) Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law (MJML). This matter was 

discriminatorily precluded from remediation by the biased courts. It thus represented a discriminatory 

seizure or taking in the real estate transaction in violation of HRS § 515-3(2), inter alia. 

 It should be noted, relevant to the claimed religious discrimination and deprivations suffered 

by the Complainant, that Sulla exclusively administered all of Revitalize’s “religious” paperwork as 

a claimed “religious corporation” vying for control over the religious property.  

 Further, Sulla incorporated another related “church” in competition with the Judeo-Christian 

Royal, registered with the DCCA as THE ECLECTIC CENTER OF UNIVERSAL FLOWING 

LIGHT-PAULO ROBERTO SILVA E SOUZA. This “religious” entity is widely known in the Big 

Island community as a drug trafficking enterprise. It is also called the “Sky of Hawai’I,” “Ayahuasca 

Church,” and/or “Ceu’ do Hawai’I ‘spiritual community.’” This enterprise is widely known on the 
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Internet and social media as being the leading trafficker to the mainland U.S. of the new “designer 

LSD” called DMT—dimethyltryptamine, a Class I narcotic hallucinogen, street named “ayahuasca.” 

 Finally, besides manufacturing Revitalize to compete for the religious property ‘under color 

of law’ with the Complainant’s Royal ministry, attorney Sulla was named in the Superseding 

Indictment of Honolulu arms dealer Arthur Lee Ong with whom Sulla conspired to develop Ong’s 

“religious” money laundering scheme enjoined in United States vs. Arthur Lee Ong, Cr. No. 09-

00398 DAE. Ong was convicted and jailed along with two other co-conspirators. But Sulla 

suspiciously “walked.” 

 This Complainant alleges the aforementioned judges were well-informed by written notices 

that Sulla’s non-profit “religious” entities were well-evidenced drug trafficking and/or real estate 

money laundering fronts, corporate veils, or Sulla alter-egos.  The State courts were all informed that 

this Sulla-administered enterprise sought to possess the Complainant’s real properties by hook-or-

by-crook.  

 Following Sulla’s repeatedly denied motions to vacate the $200,000 jury award, Judge 

Ibarra did an about face. Ibarra vacated his declaratory judgment and the award: (a) without subject 

matter jurisdiction over the untimely motion; (b) no personal jurisdiction over the invalid Revitalize 

transferee; while (c) wrongly and knowingly confusing “fraud not pled with particularity” (pursuant 

to Seller Lee having altered the Hara-drafted closing agreement) with Lee’s totally distinct 

“grandfathered business” misrepresentation. As mentioned, the jury awarded Horowitz and Royal 

that $200,000 as per Judge Ibarra’s declaratory judgment (by direct verbal instruction to the jury 

during their deliberation). Thus, that Special Damages award (Exhibit 8) was wrongly seized.  

 This pattern and practice of depriving the Complainant’s rights and properties by trickery 

enabled Sulla to claim Revitalize was owed the $200,000 (in vacated funds); and in 2010 Sulla 

claimed this “default” justified the full amount of the $350,000 Mortgage to be called. Then Sulla 

commenced a non-judicial foreclosure (NJF) to convert the Property title and dispossess the 

Complainant.  

 During this period of illegal and void transactions, Sulla concealed his own personal 

interest in the Property. On June 14, 2011, at the same time Sulla quit claim deeded the 

Complainant’s lands from Revitalize to Sulla strawman, Jason Hester, Sulla secured his own 

personal interest in the Property. Sulla filed Doc. No. 2011-093773 (with the State of Hawaii 

Bureau of Conveyances) registering a $50,000 mortgage “loan” from Sulla to the pauper, drifter 

and false heir, Hester. Sulla secured this “loan” illegally with the Property. 
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 Later, in 2016, Sulla directed Hester to further transfer the Property title to Sulla’s own 

incorporation, Halai Heights, LLC (HHLLC). Soon thereafter Sulla secured total interest, title, and 

control over the Property in his person by way of Sulla’s mortgage “loan” to HHLLC for $150,000 

illegally secured by the Complainant’s Property. 

 On March 27, 2015, in Sulla’s quiet title and ejectment action, Civ. No. 14-1-0304, Judge 

Elizabeth Strance suddenly appeared on the bench to replace Judge Ibarra. Strance dismissed all the 

Complainant’s counterclaims and defenses. Judge Strance did this despite her absolutely knowing 

Sulla was totally untrustworthy, and that the Complainant and his partner, co-defendant Sherri Kane, 

were trustworthy, because Strance had presided over Civ. No. 12-1-00417 for three years in Sulla and 

Sulla v. Horowitz and Kane. Therein the defendants prevailed against Sulla’s claim of “defamation” 

(a SLAPP lawsuit filed to censor the defendants’ Internet publications). In that 0417 case, Sulla and 

his son incriminated themselves and their drug trafficking enterprise during sworn testimony. Judge 

Strance later informed Horowitz and Kane shortly before trial that she knew they were telling the 

truth, desired to dismiss the case, and stated her administration had “lost” the defendants’ repeatedly-

filed counterclaims. Judge Strance told the couple, “You have nothing to win.” Thereby, Strance 

encouraged Horowitz and Kane to dismiss their counter-action against Sulla. The legally-incompetent 

couple simply submitted to Judge Strance’s personal persuasion/coercion and due process 

deprivation.  

 Subsequently, on March 27, 2015, Strance supplemented her pattern and practice of 

depriving the Complainant’s civil rights to due process and property rights by ORDER GRANTING 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTERCLAIMS in Civ. No. 14-1-0304. Therein, Judge 

Strance recorded violating Hawaii Revised Statute HRS § 419-8(4) by writing, “The Court is also 

finding that Defendant Horowitz does not have standing to assert claims on behalf of a corporate 

entity [i.e., Royal] because he is not a licensed lawyer licensed to practice law in the State of 

Hawaii.” In fact, Judge Strance knew she was breaking that law and illegally depriving Horowitz of 

his due process rights because she had been repeatedly told by the Complainant that he had every 

right to represent the dissolved Royal in “winding up.”1 Royal was dissolved with its assets being 

contested or stolen by Sulla and the complicit courts, Strance was informed.  

                                                 
1 HRS § 419-8(4) states in relevant part, “The church, to administer the affairs, property, and temporalities 

of which the corporation was organized, shall stand in the place and stead of the stockholders, and may be 

represented in court by any authorized officer thereof or trustee acting in its behalf;” [Emphasis added.]  
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 Having deprived the Complainant of his standing to defend, Judge Strance and Ibarra 

granted Sulla’s strawman Hester quiet title to the Complainant’s Property and ejected Horowitz, et. 

al. therefrom by ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFF’S 

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT filed May 27, 2015. 

 A year later, on May 19, 2016 Judge Melvin H. Fujino replaced Judge Ibarra and Judge 

Strance and “granted” the Complainant a terminal blow. In ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ 

MOTION FOR STAY PENDING APPEAL [HRCP 62(d)] AND FOR THE SETTING OF 

SUPERSEDEAS BOND SECURITY DURING THE PERIOD OF THE APPEAL, Judge Fujino 

levied upon the known bankrupted Complainant a bond amount of $588,374.91, otherwise 

compelling the Complainant’s ejectment and granting Sulla’s seizure of the Property. 

During the Appeal of these matters (in CAAP 16-1-0000162/163 and CAAP 18-0000584), rather 

than fact-finding, appellate judges Lisa M. Ginoza, Alexa D.M. Fujise, and Katherine G. Leonard 

“waived” their duty to examine the Record on Appeal (ROA) and neglected supplemental evidence 

corroborating the aforementioned facts. The Tribunal discriminated against the Complainant by 

deeming “waived” (in two sentences on pp. 10-11 of the MO) the foremost issue the Complainant 

spent more than a decade and three hundred thousand dollars in bankrupting fees and costs to 

defend—his $200,000 jury award and rightful title to the Property. A just determination would have 

disposed of three consolidated current prosecutions in accordance with HRCP Rule 1. Instead, the ICA 

ruled the Complainant had “waived” the issue by not ordering oral transcripts superfluous to the ROA. 

The Tribunal justified this decision by alleging insufficiency of probative evidence despite the 

ROA providing the dates of filings irrefutably showing fact finders the wisdom in fellow ICA Judge 

Daniel R. Foley’s analysis and conflicting ruling. Judge Foley DENIED that same alleged need for 

oral transcripts when that issue was raised earlier by Sulla/Hester. The ICA justified its conflicting 

decision by overextending (and misrepresenting) HRAP Rules 10 and 11 to make mandatory what 

was voluntary, unnecessary, not helpful, costly, and left to the Appellants’ discretion.  The ICA, thus, 

deprived the Complainant of his due process right that was to have been dutifully administered by the 

fact finders. The Tribunal deprived the Complainant of proper disposition of his $200,000 in funds 

used to pay the Mortgage as ordered by Judge Ibarra. Judge Ibarra’s aforementioned declaratory 

judgment recorded during the jury’s deliberation was prejudicially neglected. (Exhibit 8) 

The Complainant also appealed Hester’s erroneously presumed interest and standing in place 

of Mortgagee Lee and Revitalize. Public Records provided Ibarra and the ICA judges too by 

Judicial Notice proved that Sulla was the real party in interest. Sulla had quit-claimed title from 
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Revitalize to Sulla’s alleged strawman Hester. At that same time, Sulla secured his own personal 

interest in the Property by the aforementioned $50,000 Mortgage “loan” to Hester. 

The ICA judges purposely neglected these facts and denied the Complainant’s motion for Sulla’s 

joinder as the “proper party plaintiff.”  Judge Ibarra neglected the same to safe-harbor Sulla and Hara. 

Ibarra retaliated against the Complainant for publicly exposing his administration’s “whiting-out” of  

“The Hara File” as shown in the ROA. Thereby, Judge Ibarra’s retaliatory animus is evidenced, and is 

alleged to have hampered due process, precluded justice, and intentionally damaged Horowitz et. al. 

By Sulla’s and Ibarra’a actions they illegally converted the Complainant’s $200,000 Mortgage 

payment funds, and then seized the Complainant’s Property in favor of their alleged racketeering 

enterprise. 

Subsequently, the Tribunal of Ginoza, Fujise and Leonard breached their “Responsibility to 

Decide”—their judicial duty under HRCJC Rule 2.7. They “waived” review of the ROA and 

concealed the substantial probative evidence therein. This “appearance of impropriety” was 

committed to conceal Judge Ibarra’s wrongdoings.  The ICA thus denied the Petitioner’s due process 

rights. The Tribunal further prejudiced the Complainant by denying Sulla’s required joinder under 

HRCP Rule 19.  

Without joining Sulla, the judges knew that the Complainant could not (and cannot) gain 

restitution or rescission of the illegally seized Property from the judgment proof non-owner and non-

controller of the Property (i.e., Sulla strawman) Hester. For this reason, injunctive and declaratory 

relief is required and requested of this Civil Rights Commission. Only by Sulla’s joinder can 

injunctive or declaratory judgment be justly administered.  

Equally troubling, the ICA judges extended Judge Ibarra’s retaliatory animus, as did lower court 

judges Strance and Fujino, by depriving the Complainant of his standing and due process rights. The 

Tribunal’s discriminatory animus is shown by Ginoza, Fujise, and Leonard “erroneously” ruling that 

the Complainant had “no standing” to object to Hester’s invalid standing. The void Assignments of 

Mortgage and Note administered by Sulla and neglected by Ibarra voided Hester’s standing. In effect, 

the judges thereby ruled without jurisdiction over Hester, and aided-and-abetted Sulla and his 

fraudulent transfers of the Complainant’s rights and interests. The courts gagged the Complainant 

from opposing Sulla’s violation of HRS 651-C. The courts also continued Judge Ibarra’s and Sulla’s 

illegal seizure of the subject Property. 

The chart on the next page summarizes Sulla’s violations of the ‘badges’ proving fraudulent 

transfers as defined by HRS 651-C that the complicit judges purposely neglected and aided. 
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Substantial evidence for this Complaint is provided in attached Exhibits “1” thru “10,” beginning 

with the JUDGMENT ON APPEAL filed by the Intermediate Court of Appeals for the State of 

Hawaii (“ICA”) on July 22, 2019 (Exhibit 1) and the ICA’s MEMORANDUM OPINION (MO) filed 

May 2, 2019 (Exhibit 2). This MO documents the discriminatory malpractices committed without 

jurisdiction over Hester. Those records followed the ORDER DENYING THE MAY 12, 2019 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION filed May 17, 2019, (Exhibit 3); and ORDER DENYING 

APPELLEE JASON HESTER’S MOTION TO COMPEL APPELLANTS TO ORDER 

TRANSCRIPTS REQUESTED IN APPELLEE’S DESIGNATION OF ADDITIONAL PARTS OF 

THE TRANSCRIPT TO BE INCLUDED ON APPEAL, filed June 1, 2016. (Exhibit 5) 

Accordingly, this Complaint seeks relief from discriminatory deprivation of the Complainant’s due 

process rights and properties. It charges seven judges with malfeasance for aiding-and-abetting by 

CHART DETAILS 7 FRAUDULENT TRANSFERS OF MORTGAGE, NOTES, OR TITLES TO THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 
CONVEYED BY DEBTOR “PLAINTIFF” TO EVADE FIVE JUDGMENT CREDITORS VIOLATING HAW. REV. STAT. § § 651C-4 /5 
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willful blindness or direct complicity Hara’s and Ibarra’s wrongdoings favoring Lee/Sulla and their 

drug trafficking/money laundering enterprise. These claims are based on: (1) the courts having 

granted without jurisdiction seizure of the $200,000 in Mortgage payment funds, and subsequently 

the Complainant’s real Property. (These acts were falsely justified by the Ibarra court’s grant of 

Mortgagee Lee’s untimely Rule 50(a) MJML as further detailed in Appendix “A”.2,3; and (2) the 

Respondents unlawfully discriminated against the Complainant in violation of HRS § 515-3(2), by 

altering “the terms, conditions, or privileges of a real estate transaction[, and] in the furnishing of 

facilities or services in connection with a real estate transaction.” (Id.) Judge Ibarra et. al., did both 

in this case. The judges completely altered the real estate transaction and then terminated the 

Complainant’s possession of the Property by illegal seizure.  Then the ICA deprived Horowitz of 

his standing and right to due process to remedy these illegalities, oppose Hester’s lack of standing, 

precluding the Complainant’s right to oppose the void (not simply voidable) transfer of the 

Seller/Mortgagee’s interests to Revitalize, then Hester, then to Sulla’s corporate fiction, HHLLC.  

 

II. Standards of Review 
 

HRS §§ 368-1 and 515-3(2) makes unlawful discrimination against persons who have requested 

access to services receiving state financial assistance, as is the case here since the State’s judiciary 

operates with State funding by the legislature’s “Judiciary Package; Appropriations; Budget” to 

provide adjudicatory and law enforcement services. HRS § 368-11 of this law states in relevant parts: 

“The commission shall have jurisdiction over the subject of discriminatory practices made 

unlawful by . . . chapter 515[-3(2) that makes unlawful discrimination‘against a person in the 

terms, conditions, or privileges of a real estate transaction or in the furnishing of facilities or 

services in connection with a real estate transaction’] . . . Any individual claiming to be aggrieved 

by an alleged unlawful discriminatory practice may file with the commission's executive director . 

                                                 

 2 Appendix A details the trial judge and counsels’ actions to distinguish the misrepresentation claim 

from the fraud claim, as two separate issues at trial. The resulting Special Damage award for 

misrepresentation was confused by the equally confounding Substitution of Revitalize, the subsequent 

transfer of that $200,000 interest to Revitalize, later transferred to Hester, all made void by: (1) prima facie 

signature photocopying (i.e.,  forgery), altered page numbers, altered date(s), and the wrong signature on the 

General Certification page of Revitalize’s Articles of Incorporation; (2) overwhelming evidence of 

fraudulent transfers by Assignment of the Mortgage and Assignment of Note as defined by HRS § 651C-4; 

and (3) the transfers to Revitalize were made two weeks before Revitalize was incorporated as a legal entity. 

 3 By law, the untimeliness of that 50(a) motion barred the lower court and Appellate 

court’s subject matter jurisdiction over that jury award and Mortgage payment. There was no 

jurisdiction, nor valid legal basis to vacate what the jury had granted the Complainant and Judge 

Ibarra’s declaratory judgment and jury-instruction had affirmed. (Exhibit 8) The resulting 

$200,000 award for Mortgagee Lee’s misrepresentation (distinguished from the fraud claim) was 

transacted in the final, court ordered, “balloon payment;” 
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. .  information as may be required by the commission.  The attorney general, or the commission 

upon its own initiative may, in like manner, make and file a complaint. 

HRS §710-1076  Tampering with physical evidence, states in relevant parts “ (1)  A person 

commits the offense of tampering with physical evidence if, believing that an official proceeding 

is pending or about to be instituted, the person: 

     (a)  . . . conceals, removes, or alters physical evidence with intent to impair its verity in the 

pending or prospective official proceeding; 

     (b)  Makes, presents, or offers any false physical evidence with intent that it be introduced in 

the pending or prospective official proceeding. 

§710-1072  Tampering with a witness.  (1)  A person commits the offense of tampering with a 

witness if he intentionally engages in conduct to induce a witness or a person he believes is about 

to be called as a witness in any official proceeding to: 

     (a)  Testify falsely or withhold any testimony which he is not privileged to withhold; or 

     (b)  Absent himself from any official proceeding to which he has been legally summoned. 

     (2)  Tampering with a witness is a misdemeanor. [L 1972, c 9, pt of §1] 

HRS §710-1029  Hindering prosecution in the first degree, states in relevant parts: “(1)  A 

person commits the offense of hindering prosecution in the first degree if, with the intent to hinder 

the apprehension, prosecution, conviction, or punishment of another for a class A, B, or C felony . 

. . , the person renders assistance to the other person. [HRS §710-1030 similarly addresses lesser 

crimes.]”  

HRS § 710-1028 (1993) defines "rendering assistance" as used in the hindering prosecution 

statutes, HRS §§ 710-1029 and 710-1030. HRS § 710-1028 provides that:  

“[f]or the purposes of sections 710-1029 and 710-1030, a person renders assistance to another if he: 

(1) Harbors or conceals such person; . . . 

(3) Provides such person with  . . . disguise, or other means of avoiding discovery, 

apprehension, prosecution, or conviction; 

(4) Prevents or obstructs, by means of force, deception, or intimidation, anyone from 

performing an act that might aid in the discovery, apprehension, prosecution, or conviction of 

such person; or 

(5) Suppresses by an act of concealment, alteration, or destruction any physical evidence that 

might aid in the discovery, apprehension, prosecution, or conviction of such person.” 

HRS § 708-830 (2) and (6), states in relevant parts precluding theft: 

“A person commits theft if the person does any of the following: 

     (2)  Property obtained or control exerted through deception.  A person obtains, or exerts 

control over, the property of another by deception with intent to deprive the other of the property. 
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     (6)  Failure to make required disposition of funds. 

          (a)  A person intentionally obtains property from anyone . . . subject to a known legal 

obligation, to make specified payment or other disposition, whether from the . . . person's own 

property reserved in equivalent amount, and deals with the property as the person's own and fails 

to make the required payment or disposition.  It does not matter that it is impossible to identify 

particular property as belonging to the victim at the time of the defendant's failure to make the 

required payment or disposition.  A person's status as an officer or employee of the government or 

a financial institution is prima facie evidence that the person knows the person's legal obligations 

with respect to making payments and other dispositions.  If the officer or employee fails to pay or 

account upon lawful demand, or if an audit reveals a falsification of accounts, it shall be prima 

facie evidence that the officer or employee has intentionally dealt with the property as the 

officer's or employee's own. 

          (b)  A person obtains personal services from an employee upon agreement or subject to a 

known legal obligation to make a payment or other disposition of funds to a third person on 

account of the employment, and the person intentionally fails to make the payment or disposition 

at the proper time. 

HRS §705-520  Criminal conspiracy.  A person is guilty of criminal conspiracy if, with intent to 

promote or facilitate the commission of a crime: 

     (1)  He agrees with one or more persons that they or one or more of them will engage in or 

solicit the conduct or will cause or solicit the result specified by the definition of the offense; and 

     (2)  He or another person with whom he conspired commits an overt act in pursuance of the 

conspiracy. [L 1972, c 9, pt of §1] 

HRS §702-222  Liability for conduct of another; complicity, states in relevant part: “A person 

is an accomplice of another person in the commission of an offense if: 

     (1)  With the intention of promoting or facilitating the commission of the offense, the person: 

          (c)  Having a legal duty to prevent the commission of the offense, fails to make reasonable 

effort so to do;  

42 U.S. Code § 1983 - Civil action for deprivation of rights, states in relevant parts: 

 “Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any 

State or Territory . . . subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States . . . to 

the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall 

be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for 

redress, except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in 
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such officer’s judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree 

was violated or declaratory relief was unavailable. . . .” [Emphasis added.]4 

The First Amendment to the Constitution States: 

“Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free 

exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people 

peaceably to assemble, and to petition the government for a redress of grievances.” 

The Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution, Section I, states: 

“All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are 

citizens of the United States and of the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce 

any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall 

any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to 

any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” 

 

 

 III. Identifying the Seven Judicial Respondents 

 The names and addresses of the persons alleged to have committed the unlawful 

discriminatory practices complained of, set forth in the aforementioned particulars, include: 

 

1) Lisa M. Ginoza, Kapuaiwa Building, 426 Queen St # 201, Honolulu, HI 96813 

 

2) Alexa D.M. Fujise, Kapuaiwa Building, 426 Queen St # 201, Honolulu, HI 96813 

 

3) Katherine G. Leonard, Kapuaiwa Building, 426 Queen St # 201, Honolulu, HI 96813 

 

4) (Ret.) Ronald Ibarra, Third Circuit Court, 79-1020 Haukapila St, Kealakekua, HI 96750; and 

 

5) Elizabeth Strance, Third Circuit Court, 79-1020 Haukapila St, Kealakekua, HI 96750;  

 

6) Melvin Fujino, 4th Division, Third Circuit Court, 79-1020 Haukapila Street, Kealakekua, HI 96750 

 

7) Glenn S. Hara, Third Circuit Court, Hale Kaulike, 777 Kilauea Avenue, Hilo, Hawai`i 96720-4212 

 

                                                 

4 A declaratory decree is defined in the TransLegal Online Dictionary as: "a statement from the 

court, issued during a trial, outlining the rights and obligations of the parties under a contract or a 

statute, which often answers some or all of the issues in a lawsuit (a complaint made in a court)." 

Blacks Law Dictionary (Eighth Edition, 2006; p. 859) defines “declaratory decree” as declaratory 

judgment, “A binding adjudication that establishes the rights and other legal relations of the 

parties without providing for or ordering enforcement.” 
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IV. Argument with supporting authorities 

A. This Commission has legislative authorization and jurisdiction to hold the State 

accountable for the seven judges, six of whom acted to deprive the Complainant of money 

and properties without any valid jurisdiction in violation of rules and laws. 

 
HRS §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2) provides the Hawaii Civil Rights Commission with jurisdiction to 

administer this Complaint and provide the remedies requested. 

Pursuant to alleged violations of HRS 480 et. seq., the State is accountable for damages done by 

malfeasant officials under “responseat superior” case law.  Pourny v. Maui Police Dept., County of 

Maui, 127 F. Supp. 2d 1129 – Dist. Court, D. Hawaii 2000. Quoting the Supreme Court of Hawaii in 

Figueroa v. State, 604 P. 2d 1198 (1979). “[T]he liability of the State is to be judged under the same 

principles of tort liability as those which determine the liability of private individuals in the same 

circumstances. HRS § 662-2 (1976); Ajirogi v. State,  59 Hawaii 515, 583 P.2d 980 (1978); Upchurch 

v. State, 51 Hawaii 150, 454 P.2d 112 (1969).   

Lawyers and judges, even those with ‘absolute immunity,’ are not immune to prosecution for 

committing “patently illegal activities" during non-judicial acts. GORAN PLEHO, LLC v. Lacy, Haw: 

Supreme Court 2019. Evidence tampering occurring administratively, not judicially, as Judge Ibarra’s 

administration is evidenced having committed in this case, followed by illegal seizure of the 

Complainant’s money and property, are examples, claimed actionable as per Bivens v. Six Unknown 

Fed. Narcotics Agents, 403 US 388 – Supreme Court 1971. Quoting Irvine v. California, 347 U. S. 

128, 136 (1954), “Rejection of the evidence [by tampering or willful-blindness] does nothing to punish 

the wrong-doing official, while it may, and likely will, release the wrong-doing defendant. It deprives 

society of its remedy . . .” Further, “our cases make clear that [judicial] immunity is overcome in only 

two sets of circumstances. First,  . . .  for nonjudicial actions, i. e., actions not taken in the judge's 

judicial capacity. Forrester v. White, 484 U. S., at 227-229; Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U. S., at 360. 

Second, a judge is not immune for actions, though judicial in nature, taken in the complete absence of 

all jurisdiction. Id., at 356-357; Bradley v. Fisher, 13 Wall., at 351.” Mireles v. Waco, 502 US 9 - 

Supreme Court 1991.  

In the instant case, six of the Respondents acted without personal jurisdiction over the Plaintiff, 

Jason Hester, and without subject matter jurisdiction following Judge Ibarra’s erroneous and void 

untimely grant of a Rule 50(a) MJML, proximal to subsequent transactions violating, inter alia,  HRS 

§§ 368-11 and 515-3(2). All of this followed attorney/Judge Hara’s initial set of alleged wrongful acts 

proximal to 15 years of financial ruin and litigation distress suffered by the Complainant. 
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Judge Ibarra’s whiting-out of attorney Hara’s handwritten notes in the ROA, and Judge Hara’s 

related evidence tampering and witness tampering, both hampering the Complainant’s defense and due 

process, were each non-judicial acts.  

It appears from the chain of records and facts in this case that Judge Ibarra subsequently 

retaliated against the Complainant for vetting judges Ibarra’s and Hara’s wrongdoings. In apparent 

retaliation and certain collusion with Judge Hara and attorney Sulla, Judge Ibarra committed a pattern 

and practice of depriving Horowitz of his due process rights and properties.  

 By either judicial actions taken without any jurisdiction, or non-judicial actions, the 

Respondents each aided-and-abetted by willful blindness or direct complicity Judge Ibarra and Paul J. 

Sulla, Jr.’s wrongful seizure of the Complainant’s: (a) $200,000 in Mortgage payment funds; and 

subsequently the (b) health spa and inn real Property(ies).  

Judges Ibarra, Strance, and Fujino aided-and-abetted the illegal seizure of the subject Property 

by Sulla’s enterprise. All seven judges hindered due process, deprived the Complainant’s rights to 

defend his equity in and ownership of the Property, and neglected to prevent the illegal taking of the 

Complainant’s properties by unlawful seizure justified by false claims depriving the $200,000 

Mortgage payment, sham “default,” and wrongful foreclosure. All the Respondents contributed to the 

Complainant’s extensive damages and severe distress brought by these improprieties.  

“A duly authorized agent of a wrongfully foreclosing mortgagee [is] liable under HRS § 480-

2(a)” under these circumstances. This applies to Sulla and Judge Ibarra’s retaliatory animus acting first 

administratively, not judicially, to aid-and-abet Sulla’s wrongful foreclosure. Ibarra tampered with and 

concealed evidence in “The Hara File” in the Record on Appeal (ROA). Judge Ibarra whited-out 

substantive evidence in the ROA central to the $200,00 jury award seizure and falsely claimed 

“default.” Sulla and Ibarra acted together, and with Strance and Fujino, to commit this illegal seizure.  

Such evidence tampering in the ROA biased two foreclosure proceedings, and was an extra-

judicial act precluding Ibarra’s immunity from tort liability under HRS § 480-2(a). Ibarra administered 

this concealment of evidence favoring Sulla’s invalidly substituted sham plaintiff Revitalize.  

The Hara File was illegally withheld from trial and the jurors. Subsequently, Judge Ibarra and 

his subordinate judges aided and-abetted Sulla’s illegal seizure of the Property. Judge Ibarra 

authorized a Writ of Ejectment without any valid jurisdiction over the prevailing (albeit sham) plaintiff 

Revitalize, and Revitalize’s successor Hester.  

Nor did Judge Ibarra and the others have subject matter jurisdiction over the matter of the 

$200,000 “vacated” jury award as explained below.  
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In this case, the Respondents are each liable “like private persons” for engaging in a conspiracy 

to deprive the Complainant, administratively and/or judicially without jurisdiction, to conceal the 

malpractices of fellow Bar members Sulla and Hara.. Op. cit., GORAN PLEHO, LLC.  

Even assuming arguendo that some of the judges are immune from liability during “judicial 

acts,” this does not dispose of this Commission’s responsibility to obtain the Respondents’ required 

testimony pursuant to civil and criminal claims. Allegations of complicity in a conspiracy to deprive 

the Complainant’s due process rights and properties require adjudication. Dennis v. Sparks, 449 US 24 

- Supreme Court 1980. “There is no similar constitutionally based privilege immunizing judges from 

being required to testify about their judicial conduct in third-party litigation.” (Id.)  

And regarding attorney/judge Hara’s alleged witness tampering and hindering the 

Complainant’s defense in this case, there has been no demonstration made “ historically [that] the 

doctrine of judicial immunity not only protected the judge from liability but also excused him from 

responding as a witness when his co-conspirators are sued. Even if the judge were excused from 

testifying, it would not follow that actions against private parties must be dismissed.” (Id.) 

  A body of related case law pursuant to “standing” was reviewed in Rankin v. Howard, 633 F. 

2d 844 - Court of Appeals, 9th Circuit 1980. The Ninth Circuit concluded, “If a court lacks 

jurisdiction over a party,” as all the Respondents lack here with Hester by reason of the void chain of 

records resulting in Revitalize’s and Hester’s invalid standing and Sulla’s fraudulent concealment, 

“then it lacks ‘all jurisdiction’ to adjudicate that party's rights, whether or not the subject matter is 

properly before it. . . . [A]cts taken in the absence of personal jurisdiction do not fall within the scope 

of legitimate decision making that judicial immunity is designed to protect.” Ninth circuit in Rankin 

citing, Gregory v. Thompson, 500 F.2d at 63.  

These circumstances precluded Judge Ibarra’s personal jurisdiction over the prosecution and 

subject matter jurisdiction over the quiet title action case, Civ. No 14-1-0304. Thus, considering the 

lacking subject matter jurisdiction evidenced and argued below, Judge Ibarra’s actions satisfied both 

required prongs for overcoming judicial immunity. Op. cit., Stump v. Sparkman. 

 And rescission and restitution is, therefore, required for justice and equity to be administered. 

Fact finders are duty-bound to assess the chain of records used to seize the real Property illegally. The 

sham “Foreclosing Mortgagee” that Sulla substituted for Seller Lee was falsely incorporated and 

illegally administered exclusively by Sulla. “Revitalize,” the alleged corporate fiction Mortgage 

transferee, is alleged to be part of Sulla’s extensive racketeering and drug money laundering enterprise 

consisting of more than 50 commercial entities. Revitalize was illegally created by Sulla using void 



 16 

Articles of Incorporation, filed on May 26 and 28, 2009. Revitalize was voided ab initio by 

photocopied signature(s), altered date(s), altered pagination, and wrongly certified signatory in its 

incorporation papers. (Exhibit 10) Accordingly, all transactions, foreclosure actions, court judgments, 

and ejectment writs administered by the aforementioned judges since 2009 are null and voided by 

lacking jurisdiction over the fraudulent transferees and void transactions. “[A] case of simple forgery 

or false authority . . . result[s] in void documents under Hawai‘i law.” Ocwen Loan Servicing LLC v. 

Lum 2015 WL 1808955 at 4 (US Dist. Haw. 2015). The veil over Revitalize, Hester and subsequently 

Sulla’s HHLLC corporation that currently illegally possesses the Complainant’s Property (as listed on 

State tax records) has been pierced. 

Consequently, ownership of the Complainant’s Property was illegally converted by the 

alleged racketeering enterprise administered by the widely known drug trafficking king pin, 

attorney Sulla, aided-and-abetted by the willful blindness of the Respondents. These persons are, 

therefore, implicated in alleged public corruption, and a conspiracy to deprive the Complainant of 

his civil rights to due process, his money, and his Property, making the State liable for the damages 

committed by its officials, and this Commission responsible for investigating these matters and 

granting remedies. 

 

B. The Respondents deprived Horowitz of his due process rights, money, and justice by the 
aforementioned torts and crimes consummated July 22, 2019 when the Tribunal deemed 
“waived” (on Exhibits pp. 10-11) the issue of the Complainant’s $200,000 jury award and 
right to bring just and equitable closure to the multiplying litigations and deprivations.  
 
  “In fraud cases, a cause of action is generally said to accrue when a defendant commits 

the last overt injurious act. . . . The statute of limitations is not triggered until the defrauded 

individual has actual or inquiry notice that a fraudulent misrepresentation has been made.” Volk v. 

DA Davidson & Co., 816 F. 2d 1406 – Court of Appeals, 9th Circuit 1987. In the case at bar, the 

statute began to run on July 22, 2019 when the ICA issued its JUDGMENT ON APPEAL: (1) 

making clear the judicial malfeasance by concealing the substantial probative evidence and value 

of the ROA. The Tribunal ruling “waived” the $200,000 jury-award funds by fraud, stating: 

“Based on the foregoing, Horowitz and RBOD’s first point of error in the Judicial Foreclosure 

Action is deemed waived.: (MO, Exhibit p. 11); (2) the MO purposely concealed Sulla’s 

conflicting interest as exclusive financier of the prosecution, and proper-party plaintiff, while 

illegally securing the Tribunal’s jurisdiction over the sham Plaintiff Hester and this subject 

matter; and (3) all while illegally depriving Horowitz’s of his standing to defend his interests.  
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   The Respondents had many chances to adjudicate honorably, to correct their alleged torts 

and crimes and justly dispose of these matters.  A just ruling by the appellate Tribunal respecting 

the facts, laws, and rules of the courts, including HRCP Rule 1, 17, 18, 19, 50(a) and HRAP Rules 

10 and 11, would have and should have brought just, equitable, efficient and timely closure to three 

State prosecutions damaging and depriving the defendant/Complainant. Instead, “unfair play” and 

alleged criminal complicity prevailed, as evidenced in the ICA’s MO. (See Exhibit 2, Exhibit pages 

10-11.) A legal maxim is, "Justice delayed is justice denied." “There are cases in which delay 

appreciably harms the defendant's ability to defend himself.”  Barker v. Wingo, 407 US 514 - 

Supreme Court 1972. As shown in the case at bar, “[I]nefficiency and delay will drain even a just 

judgment of its value.” Chief Justice William E. Burger, American Bar Association address, 1970. 

By neglecting to follow their rules and laws, all seven judges delayed justice, forced the 

Complainant into bankruptcy, multiplied proceedings, and infringed on the Complainant’s (and his 

partner’s) (s), life and livelihood. 

 

B-1. The MO records the “final act” in the commission of illegal seizure of the Complainant’s 

$200,000 purchase Mortgage funds by fraud. 

 

  The MO of May 2, 2019 contains a treasure-trove of criminal evidence not to be missed by 

fact finders. The MO clearly shows Judges Ginoza, Fujise, and Leonard arbitrarily and capriciously 

neglected their duty to examine the ROA and supplemental filings in violation of HRCJC Rule 2.7. 

The Tribunal deemed “waived” on Exhibits pp. 10-11 the $200,000 matter. To justify their violation 

of Rule 2.7, inter alia, the Tribunal contrived the argument that Horowitz and Royal had not ordered 

oral transcripts required under HRAP Rules 10 and 11. The judges claimed Horowitz, thereby, 

“waived” his right to appellate consideration.  

  To the contrary, “Waiver of a defendant's fundamental rights must be knowing and 

voluntary, and must come directly from the defendant. State v. Murray, 169 P. 3d 955 - Haw: 

Supreme Court 2007. The Complainant neither knowingly, voluntarily, or factually waived his right 

to have the ICA review the substantial and sufficient probative evidence provided in the ROA and 

supplemental filings by the Complainant. As further discussed below, the Tribunal’s lame excuse 

for neglecting the ROA justified their hindering of proper governmental operations. This is how 

they stonewalled Horowitz’s first issue on appeal. 

  Clear-and-convincing evidence was readily available in the ROA to verify this first key 

issue—the untimely Rule 50(a) MJML filed by Mortgagee Lee resulting in the $200,000 seizure. 



 18 

  To justify their neglect and concealment of the ROA, and divert from its sufficiency of 

probative evidence, the Tribunal over-extended, thus misrepresented, HRAP Rules 10 and 11.  

  The Tribunal then justified its willful blindness to the facts in the ROA by blaming the 

victim, the Complainant, for neglecting HRAP Rules 10 and 11 not neglected by Horowitz at all.  

  The Tribunal contrived this lame excuse to evade its duty under HRCJC Rule 2.7, and 

avoid confirming the criminal impositions suffered by Horowitz by acts of Sulla and their fellow 

judges. “A willfully blind defendant is one who took deliberate actions to avoid confirming 

suspicions of criminality.” US v. Heredia, 483 F. 3d 913 – Court of Appeals, 9th Circuit 2007. 

Judge Hara’s and Judge Ibarra’s aforementioned crimes were avoided/evaded and concealed by the 

ICA. The Tribunal deliberately neglected the ROA that not only included evidence of the untimely 

Rule 50(a) MJML, and also the “whiting out” of Hara’s handwritten notes on the crucial chain of 

records fundamental to this and subsequent cases—the Agreement for Closing Escrow; but one 

more thing. The ROA proved Judge Ibarra and subsequent courts had no subject matter jurisdiction 

over this $200,000 issue for a number of reasons explained below. 

  In vetting “Conspiracy to Defraud,” the ICA in Fisher v. Grove Farm Co., Inc., 230 P. 3d 

382 - Haw: Intermediate Court of Appeals 2009, relied on “Black's Law Dictionary 685 (8th ed. 

2004) [that] defines "fraud" as "[a] knowing misrepresentation of the truth or concealment of a 

material fact to induce another to act to his or her detriment." In the case at bar, the Tribunal 

knowingly misrepresented the truth about the probative evidence available in the ROA, and in fact 

concealed this evidence and its adequacy in providing substantial evidence and material facts to 

resolve these matters, to induce Horowitz to submit to further discriminatory animus upon remand. 

  This was how and why the Tribunal, by its MO, evidenced a pattern and practice of 

depriving the Complainant of his right to due process, right to the $200,000 jury awarded funds, and 

right to gain prompt finality in the consolidated cases.  All of this followed six “Final Judgments” in 

which Judge Ibarra DENIED Foreclosure, but committed the Complainant’s ejectment nonetheless. 

  The Tribunal evaded this injustice by misrepresenting HRAP Rules 10 and 11 concerning 

the ordering of oral transcripts. This was a ploy—a “red herring” used for burden-shifting and 

justifying more litigations.  The clear language of HRAP Rules 10 and 11 makes oral transcripts 

voluntary not mandatory as cited below. “[I]t is precisely this red herring that generated the 

confusion in the ICA's opinion regarding . . . improper burden shifting.” Quoting State v. Pone, 892 

P. 2d 455 - Haw: Supreme Court 1995. The MO improperly shifted the burden of the “reasonable 

trier of fact” to the Complainant/Appellants—who were the suppliers of the substantial probative 
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evidence, not the judicial fact finders. This burden-shifting was improper and prejudicial.  

  HRAP Rule 10 makes crystal clear, “When an appellant desires to raise any point on appeal 

that requires consideration of the oral proceedings . . .  as the appellant deems necessary that are not 

already on file in the appeal[,]” only then shall the appellant timely order them. [Emphasis added.] 

There is no authorization for burden shifting, red herring obstruction, or hampering justice in this 

Rule 10 language. 

 And two more facts are weighty in evidencing the deprivation of the Complainant’s rights 

to due process and his properties committed by the Tribunal pursuant to their HRAP Rules 10 and 

11 misrepresentations. There was an obvious inconsistency in the decision of judges Ginoza, 

Fujise, and Leonard with that of their fellow Judge Foley. The latter ruled adequate what the 

former judges ruled inadequate. Exhibit 5 shows Judge Foley DENIED that same alleged need 

for oral transcripts raised by Sulla.  

 Add to this ‘inconsistency,’ and pattern and practice of disregarding the Complainant’s 

rights and substantial probative evidence in the ROA, Judge Ibarra’s April 16, 2008 hearing 

statement. The Complainant alerted the Tribunal to the trial court’s lacking jurisdiction as recorded 

by Judge Ibarra at that hearing. Exhibits 4 thru 6 attached to the “APPELLANT’S RULE 40 

MOTION AND MEMORANDUM FOR RECONSIDERATION (OF THE ‘MEMORANDUM 

OPINION’ FILED MAY 2, 2019”) show that trial Judge Ibarra had recorded in his Hearing 

Minutes two months after the trial during the single hearing on this matter on April 16, 2008,  

“THE COURT DENIED [THE RULE 50(a) MJML] MOTION. THERE IS NO AUTHORITY. 

FURTHERMORE, A JURY’S VERDICT SHALL NOT BE IMPEACHED.” (Exhibit 6)   

  Appendix “A” further details why oral transcripts were superfluous to the ROA. This review 

of the court record analyzed the movant’s false arguments raised to support the untimely 50(a) 

motion. Oral transcripts needed to prove this alleged fraud upon the court were totally unnecessary, 

not helpful, superfluous, and uneconomical, because the ROA alone provided sufficient probative 

evidence upon which fact-finders could find clear-and-convincing evidence to determine the 

monetary award “vacation” and sudden conversion of the money and Property by Ibarra/Sulla was 

committed improperly; because, very simply, the Rule 50(a) MJML was made untimely. 

Jurisdiction of the court cannot be given to an untimely motion. Oppenheimer v. AIG Hawaii Ins. 

Co., 881 P. 2d 1234 - Haw: Supreme Court 1994. The trial court, Judge Ibarra himself, affirmed this 

too, as shown in his hearing minutes in Exhibit 6. “THERE IS NO AUTHORITY,” Ibarra recorded. 

  Rule 50(a)(2) only permits, “Motions for judgment as a matter of law . . . made at any time 
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before submission of the case to the jury.” [Emphasis added.] This does not permit filing three weeks 

too late, after the verdict was filed. The Supreme Court in Harris Truck Lines, Inc. v. Cherry Meat 

Packers, Inc., 371 U. S. 215, 216-217 (1962) (per curiam) “(instruct[ed] that petitioner's appeal be 

heard on the merits where petitioner had received from trial court an improperly grounded . . . 

extension of the time . . .).” In the instant case, Judge Ibarra provided movant Lee an “improperly 

grounded extension of time” by which the Rule 50(a) motion was repeatedly denied, then, suddenly, 

upon Sulla’s influence, improperly and damagingly granted; Carlisle v. United States, 517 US 416 - 

Supreme Court 1996. (holding that deadlines in procedural rules shall not be extended by courts for 

other than acts of God.) Apparently, the judges here viewed Sulla’s filings as acts of God.  

  "`Substantial evidence' [in this case of Rule 50 filing untimeliness and court’s “error” in 

granting Sulla the favor(s) evidenced in the ROA] is credible evidence which is of sufficient quality 

and probative value to enable a person of reasonable caution to support a conclusion." Eastman, 81 

Hawai`i at 135, 913 P.2d at 61. State v. Quitog, 85 Hawai`i 128, 145, 938 P.2d 559, 576 (1997) 

(quoting State v. Eastman, 81 Hawai`i 131, 135, 913 P.2d 57, 61 (1996)). The only reasonable 

“conclusion” here is that the ICA judges concealed Ibarra’s and Sulla’s wrongdoing by 

concealing/disregarding the probative value and evidence in the ROA. The lower courts similarly 

wrongfully-deprived the Complainant of his right to justice, right to due process, right to his $200,000 

in jury-awarded funds, right to his final balloon Mortgage payment, right to gain his Release of 

Mortgage, and right to own, freely use, and enjoy his Property.  

The Petitioner repeatedly made known to the ICA that Lee’s MJML was filed March 11, 

2008, three weeks after the jury retired and granted Horowitz et. al., $200,000 in damages for 

Seller Lee’s misrepresentation. Oral transcripts were not required to adjudge the ROA to see that 

no timely Rule 50(a) filing was ever made by the Mortgagee Lee.  Appendix “A” further clarifies 

the fraud administered by Ibarra, Sulla and Sulla’s co-counsel, Dan O’Phelan and Stephen D. 

Whittaker. The latter is evidenced to have been bribed by Sulla, to conceal Sulla’s interests.  

 “In reviewing the legal sufficiency of the evidence on appeal, ... the test is whether, viewing 

the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, substantial evidence exists to support the 

conclusion of the trier of fact." State v. Lubong, 77 Hawai`i 429, 432, 886 P.2d 766, 769 

(App.1994). In the instant case, evidence provided by the Complainant in the ROA was legally 

sufficient to prove the untimeliness of the 50(a) motion and erroneous vacation of the special 

damage award by Sulla and Judge Ibarra inconsistent with the aforementioned facts, rules, 

statutes, and case law.  
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In depriving the Complainant’s right to appellate review on this issue, the ICA did more 

than “waive” its duty. The Tribunal not only neglected to examine the substantial evidence 

entered in the ROA and subsequent filings. Judges Ginoza, Fujise and Leonard acted to conceal 

the evidence in the ROA, conceal Judge Ibarra’s felonious activity that included tampering with 

the ROA to conceal attorney Hara’s wrongdoing, and likewise conceal Sulla’s alleged crimes 

evidenced by Exhibit 9. These crimes included Sulla and Ibarra’s alleged complicity in 

substituting a known judgment-proof sham “religious” corporation for real property theft. 

Summarily, Horowitz did not waive his right to due process in the subject Appeal. The 

Tribunal “waived” its integrity and duties under HRCJC Rules 1.2; 2.7; 2.3 and 2.15(c)(d). 

The Tribunal’s MO gives the appearance of recklessness and/or direct complicity in 

covering-up Judge Ibarra’s and Judge Hara’s wrongdoings. In addition, the MO evidences the 

Tribunal’s intention to induce the Complainant to act to his own detriment by simply resigning 

himself to the fraudulent and criminal ruling(s), or simply die or submit by attrition under the 

“judicial” duress and distress. 

 

B-2. The Tribunal purposely neglected the “Elephant Under the Carpet” to deprive the 

Complainant of his money and property.  

 

  The seven Respondents disregarded written notices exposing and evidencing the “proper 

party plaintiff,” Sulla. Judge Ibarra and the ICA judges were given Judicial Notice of public records 

proving Sulla’s “sham Plaintiff” Hester was (is) a judgment-proof strawman having been financed 

by Sulla’s “loans” since appearing in 2009.   

  The ICA aided-and-abetted Sulla, Sulla’s fraudulent concealment of his own conflicting 

interests, Hester’s lacking interests, the courts’ lacking jurisdiction over these proceedings (both 

personal and subject matter) while depriving the Complainant of his standing to oppose the fraud 

and crimes. 

  By purposely evading Sulla’s real-party-interest and feigning Hester’s standing, the judges 

not only had no personal jurisdiction over the prosecution, but also evaded their lacking subject 

matter jurisdiction since the sham “Plaintiff Hester” had no valid interest to claim as Revitalize’s 

successor and Sulla’s strawman. Thereby, the Tribunal’s fraudulent concealment of Sulla’s proper 

party interest aided-and-abetted the aforementioned series of torts and crimes. 

  Instead of administering justice, the ICA neglected the issues raised by Sulla’s conflicting 

interests and Sulla’s exclusive administration of the illegal non-judicial foreclosure that the ICA did 
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“vacate,” but remanded to further maliciously prosecute the Complainant. The ICA thus aided-and-

abetted Sulla’s fraudulent concealments to continue depriving the Complainant of his due process 

rights and properties, shielding the conspiracy and the judges complicity with Sulla.   

  The ICA also neglected to prevent Sulla’s abuse of processes, and enabled Sulla’s and 

Ibarra’s decade long complicity in the conspiracy to deprive the Complainant (by alleged malicious 

prosecution) to continue on remand. This complicity violated, inter alia, HRS §702-222 (1)(c). 

  The Tribunal intentionally neglected and denied Judicially Noticed Public Records proving 

Sulla’s required joinder as the “proper plaintiff” complicit with Judge Ibarra in the illegal 

conversion of the Complainant’s money and real Property.   

  Supplemental irrefutable proof of the ICA’s complicity in aiding-and-abetting Judge 

Ibarra’s and Sulla torts and crimes was recorded when the ICA purposely neglected and concealed 

Sulla’s real party interests and required joinder under HRCP Rules 17, 18 and 19. The Tribunal 

neglected these rules to deprive the Complainants rights to restitution and rescission while aiding-

and-abetting by willful blindness or direct complicity the Ibarra/Sulla theft scheme. 

 

B-3. The Tribunal recklessly denied the Complainant’s right of standing to oppose Sulla’s 

fraudulent transfers by void Assignment of Mortgage and Assignment of Note.  

 

  Even more compelling evidence of the Tribunal’s bad faith depriving the Complainant of 

his rights to due process and his properties is found in the MO’s p. 8 that states: “our case law 

makes clear that in a judicial foreclosure, borrowers do not have standing to challenge the validity 

of an assignment of their loans because they are not parties to the agreement,” citing U.S. Bank N.A. 

v. Mattos, 140 Hawai’I 26,35,398 P.3d 615, 624 (2017), and U.S. Bank. Nat. Ass’n v. Salvacion, 

134 Hawai’I 170, 174-75, 338 P. 3d 1185, 1189-90 (App. 2014). 

  This ‘gagging’ compounds the complicit judges’ pattern and practice of misrepresenting 

facts, rules, laws, even their own case law to retaliate and discriminate against, and deprive the 

Complainant. Mattos (@ 624) clearly states: “According to Salvacion, Hawai`i law would 

recognize an exception to the general rule when a challenge to a mortgage assignment would 

deem the assignment void, not voidable.” [Emphasis added.] 

  Thus, the Tribunal committed once more fraud by omission. They not only disregarded the 

void, not simply voidable, Assignment of Mortgage and Assignment of Note administered by Sulla. 

They disregarded and misrepresented their own case law!  

  And by remanding and continuing not dismissing the action, the judges affirmed fraudulent 
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transfers of Lee’s void interests in the already paid off Mortgage to the not-yet-legally formed 

Revitalize corporation.  

 

B-4. The Tribunal recklessly proceeded without any jurisdiction.  

 

  The MO’s ploys also concealed the judges lacking subject matter jurisdiction in the remanded 

quiet title action. In fact, no court has any personal or subject matter jurisdiction in any prosecution of 

Hester v. Horowitz, because Hester never suffered an “injury in fact.” To have standing to prosecute, 

“[A] plaintiff must show (1) it has suffered an ‘injury in fact’ that is (a) concrete and particularized 

and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the 

challenged action of the defendant; . . .” Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U. S. 555, 560-561 

(1992). Hester never suffered an ‘injury in fact’ because, inter alia, Hester’s predecessor-in-interest, 

Revitalize, never acquired any valid interest by Lee/Sulla’s void Assignments.  

  And for what “challenged action” is defendant Horowitz accused after paying his Mortgage 

off by order of the Ibarra court and demanding a Release of Mortgage?  Depriving Revitalize of the 

Sulla/Ibarra seized jury-awarded funds? Madness! Actually, retaliatory discriminatory animus.  

  Again, Revitalize, Lee’s sham successor, the transferee, did not even legally exist until 

months after the final balloon payment was made; and two weeks after the Mortgage and 

Note Assignments were administered by Sulla, thus voiding the Assignments. “When a 

corporation has been legally formed, it has an ‘existence as a separate and distinct entity.’ Evanston 

Ins. Co. v. Luko, 783 P. 2d 293 - Haw: Intermediate Court of Appeals 1989.  “[T]he interest in the 

loan was never validly assigned to the foreclosing party, because the assigning entity was dissolved 

[i.e., not legally existing] prior to executing the assignment. Lizza v. Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co., 

1 F. Supp. 3d 1106, 1113 - Dist. Court, D. Hawaii 2014. And since Revitalize didn’t exist at the 

time of the assignments, Revitalize and subsequent transferees never gained any valid interest in the 

Mortgage, Note or Property, including successors Hester, Sulla and Sulla’s HHLLC corporation.  

  Consequently, the courts never gained personal jurisdiction over the sham plaintiffs, nor 

subject matter jurisdiction over the prosecution’s void interests.5, 6 

                                                 

    5 The Assignment of Mortgage was void anyway, not simply voidable, due to prima facie fraud on its face, 

as shown in attorney Sulla’s filing of “Motion for Substitution of Plaintiff” filed July 16, 2009  (attached 

hereto as Exhibit 9). Decedent Lee’s Assignment of Mortgage falsely warranted that aside from Lee “there 

are no other holder of said Mortgage or any interest therein nor has the Assignor declared that th[ere] 

is any default by Mortgagor therein or in the Note and debt secured thereby.” [Emphasis added.] This 

false warranty is controverted by the obvious lie. Lee had spent the previous four years in this case claiming 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=9477719781118588152&q=Deutsche+Bank+Natl.+Trust+Co.,+2013+WL+2367834&hl=en&as_sdt=4,142
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  Therefore, in the instant case, had the Tribunal looked at the substantial evidence before it, 

the fact-finders would have found fraud, crime and no jurisdiction whatsoever. However, rather 

than reviewing the evidence as required, the judges failed to follow their rules, laws and duties, and 

chose to overlook, neglect, omit and conceal all of this, evidencing mens rea, malicious intent, and 

personal liability exceeding qualified immunity.  

    

C. Alleged criminal violations committed by the seven judicial Respondents to deprive the 

Complainant’s due process rights and seize his properties. 

 

  Under the aforementioned circumstances, showing discriminatory animus against the 

Judeo-Christian minister Horowitz, to deprive him and his Royal corporation of their due process 

rights and properties in favor of Sulla’s religious drug trafficking enterprise, six-of-seven judges 

each favored Sulla/Lee’s invalid transferees, acted administratively, not judicially, with no 

jurisdiction whatsoever vacating their personal immunity from prosecution.  

  The ICA’s failure to preserve and properly administer the jury-awarded-funds brings “an 

appearance of impropriety whereby their impartiality might reasonably be questioned.” Proutka v. 

Cronin, 179 P. 3d 1050 - Haw: Supreme Court 2008. The Petitioner’s "basic requirement of due 

process" requires a "fair [appeal] in a fair tribunal[.]" Id. This fairness was usurped after showing 

                                                                                                                                                               
Horowitz had defaulted on the Mortgage! Horowitz et. al. prevailed against Lee’s Foreclosure prior to Lee’s 

fraudulent Assignments. As aforementioned, full payment on the Mortgage and Note was made by February 

27, 2009, after the Ibarra’s court’s Amended Final Judgment disposed of all claims on February 22, 2009. 

The Mortgage was voided by said “balloon payment.” Horowitz then Noticed Lee to Release the Mortgage. 

Those transactions terminated the Mortgage contract according to HRS § 490:3-311.5 Thus, Lee’s presumed 

successors gained no valid interest or standing from a void Mortgage and void Note. 

  And that’s not all. The Tribunal and lower courts disregarded Horowitz’s repeated objections to the 

void incorporation of “Substitute Plaintiff” transferee Revitalize.  As mentioned, the Articles of Incorporation 

for Revitalize that Sulla filed with the DCCA on May 26 and May 28, 2009 showed Lee’s photocopied 

signature(s), altered date(s), and altered page numbers confirmed by forensic document and handwriting 

expert, Beth Chrisman, as shown in Exhibit 10 attached hereto. “[A] case of simple forgery or false authority 

. . . result[s] in void documents under Hawai‘i law.” Ocwen Loan Servicing LLC v. Lum 2015 WL 1808955 at 

4 (US Dist. Haw. 2015).  

  In a similar foreclosure action involving forged and altered securities involving alleged ‘power of 

attorney,’ the Hawaii Supreme Court wrote, “We hold that the note and mortgage were void and 

unenforceable pursuant to HRS § 454-8.”  Beneficial Hawaii, Inc. v. Kida, 30 P. 3d 895 - Haw: Supreme 

Court 2001; Billete v. Deutsche Bank Nat. Trust Co., 2013 WL 2367834, at 7 (D. Haw. May 29, 2013) 

(unpublished) (If the corporate entity did not exist at the time of the assignment it would be void and the 

subsequent non-judicial foreclosure and ejectment would be invalid.) 

 6 The ICA’s actions also precluded Horowitz’s civil rights and standing to contest the void 

assignments in direct conflict with HRS § 634-61 that guarantees that the substitution of a plaintiff following 

death “shall proceed . . . as provided by the rules of court.” But the ICA and lower court neglected these 

rules too, including HRCP Rules 17, 18 and 19, by repeatedly denying Sulla’s joinder. These courts thus 

imposed upon Horowitz damages, fees, costs and severe distress without the possibility of restitution, or 

even timely rescission of the illegally converted Horowitz Property.   



 25 

the Tribunal that the concealed proper plaintiff, Sulla, “had a ‘direct, personal, pecuniary interest’ 

in his exercise of judicial power.” (Id.) Sulla moved the courts, including the ICA, repeatedly in 

violation of ethics rules and laws. Under these circumstances, it cannot be held that the ICA 

administered procedural due process. The judges administered a malicious prosecution to deprive 

the Complainant of his rights and properties.  

A pattern and practice of criminal violations appears in the ROA and in the ICA’s MO, 

beginning with evidence tampering. All of the seven judges are evidenced violating evidence 

tampering law HRS § 710-1076.7  This law precludes concealing “evidence with intent to impair 

its verity in the pending or prospective official proceeding.” It also proscribes presenting or 

offering to the courts “false physical evidence.” 

Judge Glenn Hara deprived the Complainant of a fair trial by concealing his case file—“The 

Hara File” —evidencing his personal drafting of the Agreement for Closing Escrow that began 

these fifteen years of multiplying litigations.  

Judge Hara also tampered with his own witness at trial in violation of HRS §710-1072 

“Tampering with a witness” law. He intentionally engaged himself in withholding testimony 

which he was not privileged to withhold as a court officer, judge under duty to administer justice, 

and as the Complainant’s lawyer still under contract to appear in court to defend his clients— 

Horowitz and Royal—and their certified true original Agreement for Closing Escrow.  

 Judge Hara conspired with the Complainant’s trial attorney, John Carroll, to absent 

himself from trial to which he had been repeatedly requested to appear as proven by court filings 

and e-mailed correspondence. But Hara pressured Carroll to withhold Glenn Hara’s legal 

summons. This was another violation of § 710-1076 and 1072, because it is apparent that Judge 

Hara intended to withhold testimony that he had malpracticed. He had mislabeled the ‘Addendum 

to the Mortgage’ the “Agreement for Closing Escrow.” This confused jurors. Hara also sent the 

Complainant home to output that document from the Complainant’s computer rather than 

outputting it from Hara’s law office. Then Hara and his law firm neglected to keep a copy of the 

record in their files, and later failed to correct the misdeeds to prevent damages to the 

                                                 

    7 “Tampering with physical evidence” law precludes concealing “evidence with intent to impair its verity in 

the pending or prospective official proceeding.” This is precisely what the ICA did with the ROA, concealed it, 

removed it from consideration to impair its verity upon remand, to deprive Horowitz of due process and his 

$200,000 jury award. Further regarding HRS § 710-1076, the ICA’s MO made, presented, and offered the 

courts by remand the “false physical evidence.” This false evidence (MO) stated that Horowitz “waived” this 

issue of the $200,000 converted funds. The tribunal did this “with intent that it be introduced in the pending or 

prospective official proceeding.” [See: L 1972, c 9, pt of §1; gen ch 1993] 
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Complainant. Hara also breached his written contract to defend his work in court on Royal’s and 

Horowitz’s behalf.  

It appears that Hara’s actions were proximal to his “brethren”— six other judges—covering-

up for his misdeeds by depriving the Complainant of his evidence at trial, his witness at trial, and 

due process rights at trial and thereafter. All of this resulted in the conversion and deprivation of 

the Complainant’s money and properties, and right to freely enjoy life, liberty and his Property.  

As aforementioned, Judge Ibarra also violated HRS § 710-1076 by whiting-out Glenn 

Hara’s handwritten notes in two distinct sections of the ROA. Horowitz had photocopied and 

submitted to the Ibarra court and the ICA a copy of The Hara File showing attorney Hara’s 

handwriting that Judge Ibarra’s administration concealed, removed and altered.  

All of the above partly explains why Judges Ginoza, Leonard and Fujise prejudicially 

disposed of the 0196/162 foreclosure case to conceal this official malfeasance, and why they 

“waived” the entire ROA’s substantial probative evidence in so doing. The ROA clearly recorded 

Judge Hara’s and Judge Ibarra’s actions depriving the Complainant of his due process rights and 

properties. 

Judge Strance too violated HRS §710-1072 and HRS § 710-1076 by precluding Horowitz’s 

standing, witness, and representation of Royal as authorized by HRS § 419-8(4). Instead, Strance 

gagged Horowitz, and tampered with evidence in two cases. Strance claimed to have repeatedly 

“lost” the Complainant’s counterclaims in the Civ. No. 12-1-0417 case. Then she wrongfully 

dismissed the counterclaims in Civ. No. 14-1-0304. Strance thereby demonstrated a pattern and 

practice of protecting Sulla by depriving Horowitz, et. al. of due process rights and ownership of 

the Property. In the 0304 case, this deprivation was committed without any jurisdiction.  

Similar deprivation of rights and property by Judges Hara, Ibarra and Strance was continued 

and compounded by Judge Melvin Fujino in his decision to levy upon the bankrupted Complainant 

a $588,374.91 bond requirement, otherwise converting possession of the Property to Sulla’s 

enterprise. 

All tolled, the seven judges aided-and-abetted by willful blindness or direct complicity the 

aforementioned crimes, resulting in first degree real property theft in violation of HRS § 708-830, 

paragraphs (2) and (6). 8 

                                                 

8 HRS § 708-830 (2) and (6), presumes government official Ibarra, and Sulla as an “officer of the court” 

knew of their “legal obligations with respect to making payments and other dispositions” of the Mortgage 

payment funds and the Release of Mortgage transaction that was deprived. “ If the officer or employee 
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The seven judges also acted inconsistent with HRS § 702-222(1)(b)(c)—duty to prevent 

law. Apparent complicity is shown by the illegal conduct of Glenn Hara, Ronald Ibarra, Elizabeth 

Strance, Melvin Fujino, and Paul Sulla, all in violation of HRS § 705-520 criminal conspiracy 

law. The record shows the judges conspired in favor of Sulla and thievery, and failed to “make 

reasonable effort” to prevent the aforementioned damage and deprivations contrary to their duties 

under HRS § 702-222(1)(b)(c).  

Rather than abiding by HRS § 702-222(1)(b)(c), the Tribunal aided-and-abetted Sulla’s 

crimes, and hindered Sulla’s apprehension, prosecution, conviction, and punishment for several 

felonies and misdemeanors. The seven judges, thereby, similarly violated HRS §§ 710-1029 and 

1030 by “hindering prosecution in the first degree.” “The defendant was convicted, inter alia, of 

hindering apprehension by destroying or concealing evidence.” State v. Line, 214 P. 3d 613 - 

Haw: Supreme Court 2009. In this instance, the seven judges hindered Sulla’s apprehension in 

violation of this law by “concealing evidence” in addition to allegedly violating HRS §§ 710-

1029 and 710-1030. 

These seven judges aided-and-abetted by willful blindness and/or direct complicity Sulla’s 

conversion scheme, intertwined with Sulla’s illegal drug trafficking and real estate money 

laundering enterprise. These judges also, therefore, violated HRS § 710-1028 for "rendering 

assistance" to Lee’s/Sulla’s fraudulent practices, theft scheme, and drug trafficking operations, 

resulting in the Complainant’s bankruptcy and dispossession from his home.  

Judges are presumed to be offended by illegal “seizures that violate the Bill of Rights or 

statutes intended to regulate public officials.” Irvine v. California, 347 U. S. 128, 136 (1954). The 

seven judges here have done the opposite by concealing evidence, witness tampering, aiding-and-

abetting thievery, and hindering Sulla’s apprehension and prosecution for the criminal conversion 

of the $200,000 in jury-awarded funds along with the Complainant’s $1 million Property.  

"Rejection of the evidence does nothing to punish the wrong-doing official, while it may, 

and likely will, release the wrong-doing defendant.” (Id.)  Official wrongdoing “deprives society 

                                                                                                                                                               
fails to pay or account upon lawful demand, or if an audit reveals a falsification of accounts, it shall be 

prima facie evidence that the officer or employee has intentionally dealt with the property as the officer's 

or employee's own.” (Id.) This is precisely what Ibarra and Sulla did, and the ICA Tribunal concealed. 

Further, Sulla obtained, “personal services from [Ibarra] an employee [of the State] upon agreement or 

subject to a known legal obligation to make a payment or other disposition of funds to” terminate the real 

Property transaction. But Ibarra and Sulla “intentionally fail[ed] to make the payment or disposition at the 

proper time.” 
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of its remedy against one lawbreaker because he has been pursued by another . . .” (Id.) In the 

instant case, the State courts pursued law-breaking rather than justice. This protected judges and 

Sulla “against whom incriminating evidence is discovered, but does nothing to protect innocent 

persons who are the victims of [the] illegal . . . [seizure(s)]." (Id.)  Regarding this law-breaking 

and "the suppression of important evidence . . . the 'sporting contest' thesis [requires] that the 

government must 'play the game fairly' and cannot be allowed to profit from its own illegal acts. 

Olmstead v. United States, 277 U. S. 438, 469, 471 (1928) (dissenting opinions); see Terry v. 

Ohio, 392 U. S. 1, 13 (1968).” (Id.) 

  These actions by the seven judges, aided-and-abetted by willful blindness, concealment of 

the evidence, and acting without any jurisdiction in favor of Sulla also violated HRS §705-520 

criminal conspiracy law and HRS §702-222 “[l]iability for conduct of another; complicity” law.   

 

V. Remedies Required and Requested 

  These facts provide good cause for this Commission to issue injunctive relief by 

declaratory judgment.  Otherwise, further delay, neglect, and complicity in alleged organized 

crimes will compound prejudice and damage to the Complainant.  

  Lacking injunctive relief, further delay will compound unfair play and further hinder due 

process and justice.  Failure to enjoin the wrongdoing will favor Sulla and further jeopardize 

society at risk of Sulla’s ayahuasca (DMT) drug trafficking enterprise and shady dealings in courts.  

  This Civil Rights Commission is therefore requested to enjoin by injunction and/or 

declaratory judgment, these abuses of processes.9  

  This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment a statement 

certifying the ICA’s JUDGMENT ON APPEAL as void for, inter alia, discriminating against the 

Complainant, and depriving his civil rights to due process and his property. 

   This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment a statement 

terminating further abuses of processes on remand by reason of the judges’ lacking personal and 

                                                 
9 “[T]here are two essential elements in a claim for abuse of process: ‘(1) an ulterior purpose and (2) a wilful 

act in the use of the process which is not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.’” Young v. Allstate 

Ins. Co., 198 P. 3d 666 – Haw: Supreme Court 2008. The alleged fraudulent concealment of Sulla’s real-

party-superior-controlling-interest by Sulla and six-of-seven named Respondents shows: (1) the ulterior 

purpose of indemnifying Sulla against liability for torts and crimes; (2) retaliatory prejudice depriving the 

Complainant’s capacity to recover his damages and Property; and (3) willful acts “not proper in the regular 

conduct” of honorable court proceedings, including unlawful conversion of the Property. (Id.) 
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subject matter jurisdictions as aforementioned and proven. 

  This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment restitution in 

the amount of $2,017,156.66 in damages, fees and costs (not including interest, statutory or 

punitive damages) lost by the Complainant provable at trial or otherwise. 

Having proven violations of HRS §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2), the Civil Rights Commission is asked 

to include in its Declaratory Judgment express determinations, and provide copies of such findings of 

fact and conclusions of the Commission to the Commission on Judicial Conduct,10 as well as to the 

Complainant, Respondents, Attorney General of the State of Hawaii, and the civil rights branch of the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). This branch of the FBI is the exclusive “appropriate authority” 

under these exceptional circumstances evidencing white collar organized crime in the judicial branch of 

government.11 

 

VI. Conclusion  

 

The ICA’s JUDGMENT ON APPEAL and MO (Exhibits 1 and 2) consummated nearly fifteen 

years of the State of Hawaii’s judicial system depriving the Complainant prejudicially of his due 

process rights and property rights. This was done by seven judges who compounded a pattern of 

evidence tampering, witness tampering, and hindering the apprehension of wrongdoers. Seven 

judges in this case are alleged to have committed an assortment of torts and crimes, including 

concealing substantial probative evidence in the ROA to hinder and taint due process damaging the 

Complainant. These actions include the ICA deeming “waived” their duty as fact finders to 

properly administer the Complainant’s $200,000 jury-awarded funds administered during the 

subject Mortgage transaction. This deprivation of rights resulted in the illegal seizure of the 

Complainant’s real property in violation of, inter alia, HRS §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2).  

 The ICA’s prejudicial and illegal rulings have ordered remand. This wrongly and 

damagingly continues, even multiplies, the alleged discriminatory proceedings and alleged 

                                                 

 10 HRCJC Rule 2.15 et. seq. makes crystal clear that judges are required to “inform the appropriate 

authority” about a fellow judge having “committed a violation of this Code that raises a substantial 

question regarding the judge’s honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a judge . . . “ Having been served a 

copy of this Complaint, each of the seven Respondents are required by HRCJC Rule 2.15(c)and(d) to “take 

appropriate action” that includes cooperating with this Commission as an “appropriate authority or other 

agency or body.” 

 11 Under the circumstances presenting in this case, the State Attorney General’s office is not 

an “appropriate” authority to administer these matters, nor is the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, as 

they both neglected and hindered the Complainant’s repeated complaints pursuant to these matters. 





 31 

 

APPENDIX A: The Bad Faith in the Rule 50(a) MJML 
 

 Bad faith was/is demonstrated by Lee’s lawyers, Dan O’Phelan and Paul J. Sulla, Jr., who 

claimed the falsehood that some private dialogue had occurred at the bench or in closed chambers 

prior to the jury’s retirement. This falsehood is controverted by three irrefutable facts in evidence 

shown in Exhibits 6 thru 8.  Exhibit 6 records Judge Ibarra’s hearing minutes on April 16, 2008 in 

which he stated, “A JURY’S VERDICT SHALL NOT BE IMPEACHED.”  Had judge Ibarra held 

a private discussion wherein Lee’s counsel objected ‘strenuously” as alleged in the Rule 50(a) 

Motion (Exhibit 7) then Judge Ibarra most certainly instructed the jury properly as shown in 

Exhibit 8. That Exhibit 8 record controverts the falsehood by distinguishing the “fraud 

counterclaim” that expressly concerned the two versions of the Agreement for Closing Escrow, 

from the “misrepresentation counterclaim” of Lee having sold Horowitz a falsely represented 

“commercial property.”  Exhibit 8 proves any falsely claimed ‘conference at the bench’ to have 

resulted in Judge Ibarra’s clarifying instruction to the jury expressly on the claim of 

misrepresentation of commercial operation (and not fraud pertaining to the Agreement for Closing 

Escrow that counsel agreed to make mutually applicable). This instruction by the court caused the 

jury to affirm the Special Verdict Question #10 on February 21, 2008 as shown in Exhibit 8.  

 And two more pieces of evidence of bad faith omissions and misrepresentations, frank 

lying, in order to deprive Horowitz et. al. of the $200,000 jury award is shown in the Appellee’s 

50(a) Motion on page 5 of Exhibit 7 that reads: 

 Plaintiff objected to the jury instruction being include[d] in his filed “Plaintiff’s 

Objections to Defendant’s Jury Instructions and Acceptance of the Defendant’s Jury 

Instruction Defining Fraud with the Condition that it Be Made Applicable to Both Parties.” 

See Attached Exhibit E, page 2, paragraph #2 which states as follows: 

 
 “Objection to defendant’s instructions 2-5, 11, 14 15. These instructions relate to a 

claim that is not identified in the Defendant’s filed counterclaims. Defendant did not claim 
that there was failure to disclos[e] material defects in his complaint or concealment of 

material defects, or misrepresentation regarding the disclosure of material defects. . . .” 

 
In fact, the Court ruled that all of Defendant’s proposed jury instructions that related 

to fraud and misrepresentation with respect to the sale of the property, concealment of 

defects, and or misrepresentation regarding the disclosure of material defects were 

stricken.” [Emphasis added to highlight falsity.] 

 

 The bolded statement was false. The Ibarra Court only struck the issue of material defects 

in the physical Property sold. It was sold “As Is.” Construction problems were struck, not fraud or 
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misrepresentation in the sale of the Property. These two separate counterclaims were, by the 

parties’ agreement prior to trail, adjudicated as two different matters: (1) fraud in the altering of 

the Agreement for Closing Escrow to bring the judicial foreclosure; and (2) misrepresentation in 

the sale of the “commercial” Property that Judge Ibarra clarified for jurors as a separate claim as 

Exhibit 8 shows.  

 In fact, the Appellee’s acceptance of the revised Jury Instructions and Special Verdict 

Form “Defining Fraud with the Condition that it Be Made Applicable to Both Parties” conferred 

consent to the Jury Instruction #10 as shown in the subject 50(a) Motion (Exhibit 7) AND in 

Exhibit 8. BUT Exhibit 8 was purposely omitted in bad faith by Lee/O’Phelan because it 

evidences Judge Ibarra’s personal instruction to jurors to affirm their ruling on misrepresentation 

of the “commercial property” that was not a legally operated business contrary to Lee’s 

misrepresentation to Horowitz. 

 Attorney O’Phelan purposely intermingled these separate matters of fraud or 

misrepresentation to bamboozle everyone and gain the $200,000 funds conversion (i.e., jury 

award ‘vacation’) by deceit. It is completely unreasonable to assert the Rule 50(a) Motion was 

made timely based on this deceptive pleading—a filing that purposely omitted this most 

“substantial evidence” proving the untimeliness of the Rule 50(a) motion, the lack of the court’s 

jurisdiction to grant this untimely motion, and the injustice committed and continued by the ICA 

in “waiving” this issue on Appeal.  

 “Conduct which forms a basis for inference is evidence. Silence is often evidence of the 

most persuasive character.” United States ex rel. Bilokumsky v. Tod, 263 US 149 – Supreme Court 

1923 (at 154). The Appellee’s co-counsel ‘silenced’ Judge Ibarra’s answer and instruction to the 

jury in Question #1 in the MJML Rule 50(a) filing (Exhibit 7). They did the same in subsequent 

pleadings and filings to defraud the courts. Their purpose was to deprive Horowitz of his 

$200,000 jury award, generate false Mortgage debt, feign Horowitz’s ‘default’ on the Mortgage 

and Note, all concealed and ‘silenced’ by the ICA’s ‘waiving’ its duty to inspect this ‘substantial 

evidence’ in the ROA. All of this is purposely disregarded and concealed by the Tribunal with 

scienter.  

 To contest scienter, that is, mens rea in ‘overlooking’ the substantial evidence in the ROA 

in this instance, would unreasonably argue Judges Ginoza, Fujise and Leonard are generally 

incompetent to serve in the Supreme Court’s appellate division.  

 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10513051154267753172&q=silence+brandeis+persuasive&hl=en&as_sdt=4,60
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SEVEN HAWAII JUDGES 
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) For Alleged Deprivation of  
) Rights and Properties 
)  
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) AFFIDAVIT OF  

) LEONARD G. HOROWITZ 

) 

 

  

AFFIDAVIT OF LEONARD G. HOROWITZ IN SUPPORT OF COMPLAINT 

 

 

 I, LEONARD G. HOROWITZ, under pain of perjury of law, do hereby state and declare 

as follows:  

 

1) I am an individual over the age of twenty-one (21) years, domiciled in California, residing 

part time in the State and County of Las Vegas, Nevada; compelled by these proceedings to 

acquire ‘after residence’ part time in Hawaii. 

2) I am not licensed to practice law before the courts of Hawai‘I, but appear pro se. 

 

3) As of 2001, I have been the Overseer and ‘body corporate’ for Defendant-Appellant THE 

ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID, that currently, legally, is considered to be in “winding-

up” following insolvency and dissolution caused by attorney Paul J. Sulla, Jr.’s actions in the 

courts administered by the Respondents. 
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4) The facts set forth in the accompanying VERIFIED COMPLAINT are true and correct to the 

best of my knowledge and belief.  

5) I file this Complaint not only for my personal interests, to oppose the injustices detailed 

herein, but for the benefit of others similarly-situated, and society-at-large. I file this 

respecting the interests of fellow citizens who have contacted me, and my partner Sherri 

Kane, in recent years after being damaged by similar prejudicial proceedings. Many people 

have contacted us after being damaged by attorney Paul J. Sulla, Jr. and the courts herein 

cited. Many people, myself included, are outraged by the corruption surrounding Mr. Sulla, 

and his corrupting influence upon the courts clearly and convincingly demonstrated in this 

series of cases demonstrating a pattern and practice of civil rights and property rights 

deprivations. 

6) As a reasonable person with advanced training in medicine, public health, and consumer 

advocacy, I cannot conclude the judicial proceedings addressed here demonstrate “good 

faith.” There appears to be extreme prejudice and bias evidenced by many obvious, 

‘arbitrary,’ and ‘capricious’ ‘errors’ by the named Respondents favoring Mr. Sulla’s 

wrongdoings, including concealment of him as a real-party-in-interest. Mr. Sulla’s and the 

courts’ actions have hampered due process and precluded justice as detailed in the attached 

Complaint.  

7) Many citizens who have followed my witness in these cases have gained clear impressions of 

the courts harboring Mr. Sulla, and aiding-and-abetting organized crimes in the process. For 

example, the Rule 10 ‘red herring’ ‘burden shifting’ advanced by the Tribunal as mentioned in 

this Complaint conceals substantial probative evidence in the Record on Appeal as a whole. 

The Court obviously “overextended” Rule 10 to waive the fact-finders’ duty and my due 

process rights, to deprive me of $200,000 in funds and finality in these cases. It is 

unreasonable to believe the ICA, that requires so much precision from litigants and clerks, 

would overlook the ROA proving that no Rule 50(a) motion was made ‘timely’ to justify 

robbing me of my $200,000 jury award. Only malicious intent can reasonably account for this 

pattern and practice of damaging rulings by the Respondent judges. These now impose upon 

me and my partner extended lawsuits after a decade of bankrupting prosecutions by Mr. Sulla. 

The toll these years of struggle, abused processes, and persecution has taken on my life, my 
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family, partner Sherri Kane, our careers, and capacities to serve society has been enormous. 

Irreparable harm to us, and severe distress to us, has been tremendous. 

8) I verify that Exhibits 1 and 2 are a true and correct copies of the subject JUDGMENT ON 

APPEAL and MEMORANDUM ORDER (MO) filed July 22, 2019 and May 2, 2019, 

respectively, by the Court. 

9) Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of the Court’s ORDER DENYING THE MAY 12, 2019 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION filed May 17, 2019. 

10)  Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of Appellants’ Opposition to Appellee’s Motion to 

Compel Appellants to Order Transcripts filed June 6, 2016. 

11)  Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of “Appellee Jason Hester’s Motion to Compel 

Appellants to Order Transcripts . . .” filed June 27, 2016 in the 0162 appeal by Disqualified 

counsel Paul J. Sulla, Jr., showing Judge Daniel R. Foley “DENIED” this motion. 

12) Exhibit 6 is a true and correct screenshot of Judge Ibarra’s “Hearing Minutes” dated April 

16, 2008, recording the court’s decision to deny the Appellee’s Motion for Judgment As a 

Matter of Law or Alternatively New Trial . . .” that states: “COURT DENIED MOTION. 

THERE IS NO AUTHORITY, FURTHER MORE, A JURY’S VERDICT SHALL NOT BE 

IMPEACHED, THE JURY WAS POLLED.” 

13) Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or 

Alternatively New Trial on Issue of Defendant’s Counterclaim for Fraud and 

Misrepresentation, filed March 11, 2008 in the trial court. 

14) Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of the Single Jury Question, and Judge Ibarra and the 

Parties’ Approved Express Jury Instruction on MISREPRESENTATION” filed February 21, 

2008 by the jury foreperson. 

15) Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of attorney Sulla’s Motion for Substitution of 

 Plaintiff attaching the falsely warranted Assignment of Mortgage, and  Assignment of 

Note into ‘Revitalize’ formed untimely using an “altered” and  forged set of Articles of 

Incorporation, filed July 16, 2009. 

16) Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of the forensic document examiner’s “Declaration of 

Beth Chrisman” showing substantial probative evidence of attorney Sulla having “altered” 

(and forged) the Articles of Incorporation of the “Foreclosing Mortgagee” (‘Revitalize’). 
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Beth Chrisman 
Forensic Document Examiner 
13437 Ventura Blvd, Ste 213 

Sherman Oaks CA 91423 
Phone: 310-957-2521   Fax: 310-861-1614  

E-mail: beth@handwritingexpertcalifornia.com 
www.HandwritingExpertCalifornia.com 

C.V. of Beth Chrisman              Page 1 of 2 

 
CURRICULUM VITAE 
 
I am, Beth Chrisman, a court qualified Forensic Document Examiner.  Beginning my career in 2006, 
I have examined over 500 document examination cases involving over 6500 documents.  I trained 
with the International School of Forensic Document Examination and have apprenticed under a 
leading court-qualified Forensic Document Expert. 
  
Forensic Examination Provided For: 
Disputed documents or signatures including: wills, checks, contracts, deeds, account ledgers, 
medical records, and autograph authentication.  Investigation and analysis including: questioned 
signatures, suspect documents, forgeries, identity theft, anonymous letters, alterations, 
obliterations, erasures, typewritten documents, altered medical records, graffiti, handwritten 
numbers, and computerized and handwritten documents. 
 
Education 
• Bachelor of Science Specializing in Prosthetics and Orthotics from the University of Texas 

Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas 
 
• International School of Forensic Document Examination:  Certified Forensic Document 

Examination, Graduation Date July 2008 
Specific Areas of Training: 

Handwriting Identification and Discrimination, Signature Comparison, Techniques for 
Distinguishing Forged Signatures, Disguised Handwriting, Altered Numbers, Anonymous 
Writing, Laboratory Procedures, Forensic Microscopy and Forensic Photography, Identifying 
Printing Methods, Papers and Watermarks, Factors that Affect Writing, Demonstrative 
Evidence Training, Demonstrative Evidence in the High-Tech World, Forgery Detection 
Techniques, Detection of Forged Checks, Document Image Enhancement, Graphic Basis for 
Handwriting Comparison, Ethics in Business and the Legal System, Mock Courtroom Trails 
 

• American Institute of Applied Science; 101Q Questioned Documents course completed  
 
• 3 year on-the-job apprenticeship with Bart Baggett, a court qualified document examiner and the 

president of the International School of Forensic Document Examination, October 2006 – October 
2009. 
Apprenticeship Included: 

Gathering documents, setting up case files, scanning and photographing documents, assisting 
with on-site examinations, interacting as client liaison with attorneys and clients, accounting 
and billing, peer reviews, preparing court exhibits, directed and witnessed client hand written 
exemplars, as well as reviewed and edited official opinion letters and reports for Mr. Baggett’s 
office.  I managed 204 cases consisting of 2157 documents during this time period. 
 
Furthermore, I began taking active individual cases that were mentored and/or peer reviewed 
by Bart Baggett. 
 

• ACFEI Conference October 2009, Las Vegas, NV. (American College of Forensic Examiners 
International) Attended specific lectures on ink and paper counterfeiting by FBI personnel. 
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Beth Chrisman 
Forensic Document Examiner 
13437 Ventura Blvd, Ste 213 

Sherman Oaks CA 91423 
Phone: 310-957-2521   Fax: 310-861-1614  

E-mail: beth@handwritingexpertcalifornia.com 
www.HandwritingExpertCalifornia.com 

C.V. of Beth Chrisman              Page 2 of 2 

 
 
CURRICULUM VITAE Cont. 
 
Further Qualifications: 
I am the Director of the International School of Forensic Document Examination; creating 
curriculum, choosing textbooks, creating schedules and overseeing student apprentice qualifications 
for students worldwide.  I teach and mentor students worldwide, including students in the United 
States, New Zealand, Australia, India and Slovakia.  I also peer review cases for other working 
document examiners.   
 
 
Laboratory Equipment: 
Numerous magnifying devices including 30x, 20x and 10x loupes, Light Tracer light box, protractor, 
calipers, metric measuring devices, slope protractor and letter frequency plate, handwriting letter 
slant and comparison plate, typewriter measurement plate, type angle plate, digital photography 
equipment, zPix 26x-130x zoon digital hand-held microscope, zOrb 35x digital microscope, an 
illuminated stereo microscope, Compaq Presario R3000, HP PC, 2 high resolution printers, 2 digital 
scanners, 1 high resolution facsimile machine, and a copy machine. 
 
 
Library 
Numerous forensic document examination titles and other handwriting reference materials. 
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7 

8 

DECLARATION OF BETH CHRISMAN 

I, BETH CHRISMAN, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am an Expert Document Examiner and court qualified expert witness in the field of 

questioned documents in the State of California. I am over the age of eighteen years, am of sound 

mind, having never been convicted of a felony or crime of moral turpitude; I am competent in all 

respects to make this Declaration. I have personal knowledge of the matters declared herein, and if 

called to testify, I could and would competently testify thereto. 

I have studied, was trained and hold a certification in the examination, comparison, analysis 9 2. 

10 and identification of handwriting, discrimination and identification of writing, altered numbers and 

11 

12 

13 

14 

altered documents, handwriting analysis, trait analysis, including the discipline of examining 

signatures. I have served as an expert within pending litigation matters and I have lectured and 

taught handwriting related classes. A true and correct copy of my current Curriculum Vitae 

15 ("C.V.") is attached as "Exhibit A". 

Request: I was asked to analyze a certified copy of the ARTICLES OF 16 3. 

17 INCORPORATION, CORPORATION SOLE FOR ECCLESIASTICAL PURPOSES for the 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Corporation Sole of THE OFFICE OF THE OVERSEER, A CORPORATION SOLE AND HIS 

SUCCESSORS, OVERJFOR THE POPULAR ASSSEMBL Y OF REVITALIZE, A GOSPEL OF 

BELIEVERS filed with the State of Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs. I 

have attached this document as EXHIBIT B, Pages 1 through 8. 

23 4. Basis of Opinion: The basis for handwriting identification is that writing habits are not 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

instinctive or hereditary but are complex processes that are developed gradually through habit and 

that handwriting is unique to each individual. Further, the basic axiom is that no one person writes 

exactly the same way twice and no two people write exactly the same. Thus writing habits or 

individual characteristics distinguish one person's handwriting from another. 

Page I of4 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

Transferred or transposed signatures will lack any evidence of pressure of a writing 

instrument. Additionally, due to modem technology in the form of copiers, scanners, and computer 

software that can capture documents as well as edit documents and photos it has become quite easy 

to transfer a signature from one document to another. However, there will always be a source 

document and in many cases the signature will remain unchanged. The fact that there is more than 

one signature that is exactly the same is in direct opposition to one of the basic principles in 

handwriting identification. 

A process of analysis, comparison and evaluation is conducted between the document(s). 

Based on the conclusions of the expert, an opinion will be expressed. The opinions are derived 

from the ASTM Standard Terminology for Expressing Conclusions for Forensic Document 

Examiners. 

5. Observations and Opinions: 

PAGE NUMBERING: 

a. This is an 8 page document with the first six pages having a fax footer dated May 26, 2009 

and the last 2 pages having a fax footer of May 28, 2009. 

18 b. Further, the first four pages are numbered as such, the fifth page has no original number 

19 designation, the sixth page has the numeral 2, and the last two pages are labeled 1 and 2. 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

c. There is not one consistent page numbering system or text identification within the 

document pages that indicates all pages are part of one document. 

DOCUMENT PAGES: 

d. Page 6 and Page 8 are both General Certification pages and contain the same text, exact 

25 same signature and exact same handwritten '8' for the day. Since no one person signs their name 

26 exactly the same way twice, one of these documents does not contain an authentic signature. 

27 

28 

Page 2 of4 
DECLARATION OF BETH CHRISMAN 
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1 

2 

Additionally, no one person writes exactly the same way twice thus the numeral '8' is also not 

authentic on one of the documents. 

3 e. It is inconclusive if one of the documents is the source or if neither is the source document. 

There is no way to know if the signature of Cecil Loran Lee was an original prior to faxing 4 f. 

5 or if it was a copy of a copy or the generation of the copy if a copy was used to fax the form. 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

PAGES5AND6 

g. Page 6 is a General Certification appearing to be attached to the previous page, however, 

Page 5 of this set of documents references a Gwen Hillman and Gwen Hillman clearly is not the 

signature on the Certification. Additionally, there is no Page number on the Certificate of Evidence 

of Appointment that actually links it to the next page, the General Certification of a Cecil Loran 

Lee. 

h. Further, the fax footer shows that Page 5 is Page 13 of the fax, where page 4 is Faxed page 

5 and page 6 is fax page 7; so there is inconsistency in the overall document regarding the first six 

pages. 

1. There is no way to know based on the fax copy and limited handwriting if the same person 

wrote the '8' on pages 5 and 6. There's no real evidence these pages go together outside the order 

they were stapled together in the Certified Copy. 

PAGE 8. 

J. Page 8 does have an additional numeral '2' added to the original numeral 8 to make '28.' 

a. The Please see EXHIBIT 3 for levels of expressing opinions. 

6. Opinion: EXHIBIT B, The ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, CORPORATION SOLE 

25 FOR ECCLESIASTICAL PURPOSES for the Corporation Sole of THE OFFICE OF THE 

26 OVERSEER, A CORPORATION SOLE AND HIS SUCCESSORS, OVER/FOR THE POPULAR 

27 ASSSEMBLY OF REVITALIZE, A GOSPEL OF BELIEVERS filed with the State of Hawaii 

28 

Page 3 of4 
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1 

2 

3 

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs contains page( s) that are not authentic in nature 

but have been duplicated, transferred and altered. Further, the lack of proper page numbering and 

consistency within the page number makes the document suspicious. 

4 7. 

5 

Declaration: 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

6 

7 

8 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration was executed on the 12th day of June, 2015, 

in Sherman Oaks, California. 
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the 

individual who signed the document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, 

accuracy, or validity of that document. 

6 State of California 

7 County of Los Angeles 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

On June 30, 2015 before me,£ ~J tf •mSm, fo~';:{J personally appeared Beth Chrisman, 

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person whose name is subscribed 

to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that she executed the same in her authorized 

capacity, and that by her signature on the instrument the person, or the entity upon behalf of which 

the person acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing paragraph is true and correct. 

Commission # 2041350 
~ , , Notary Public - California ~ 
z • ' Los Angeles County :'.: 

21 Signature --r--.,""'--r--7""--~__L_-1---?==---t------,L->-
L V9. e .. ~'.~~;; ~ee L4·.n1rl 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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Electronically Filed
Intermediate Court of Appeals
CAAP-13-0003796
09-DEC-2013
03:07 PM
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Margaret (Dunham) Wille  #8522 
Attorney at Law 
65-1316 Lihipali Road 
Kamuela, Hawaii  96743 
Tel: 808-854-6931 
margaretwille@mac.com 
   Attorney for: 
   Defendant/Counterclaimants-Appellants 
 

 
IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF HAWAI’I  

 
                                       ICA No. CAAP-16-0000162 
 

 
 

JASON HESTER, Overseer The 
Office Of Overseer, Overseer For 
The Popular Assembly Of 
Revitalize, A Gospel Of Believers                          
     Plaintiffs/Counterclaim       
     Defendant-Appellee  
 
 vs. 
 
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ; AND 
THE ROYAL BLOODLINE OF 
DAVID  
  Defendants/Counterclaimants –  
  Appellants 

 
 
 
 
 

   ) Civ. No. 05-1-0196 
) THIRD CIRCUIT COURT 
) Appeal of Fifth Amended    
) Final Judgment  
) 
)  
) APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR  
) JUDICIAL NOTICE  
) [HRAP Rule 27 and HRE 201]  
) DECLARATION OF MARGARET  
) WILLE; 
) EXHIBITS  “A” TO “F”;  
) CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE. 

   
  
) 
) 
  

 
APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE  

[HRAP Rule 27 and HAWAII RULES OF EVIDENCE RULE 201] 
 
 

 

           COMES NOW Defendants/Counterclaimants-Appellants LEONARD G. HOROWITZ 

and the ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID (RBOD), hereafter collectively referred to as 

“Appellants,” by and through their attorney, MARGARET WILLE, pursuant to the Hawai‘i 

Electronically Filed
Intermediate Court of Appeals
CAAP-16-0000162
06-JAN-2017
11:43 AM
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 2 

Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 27 “Motions”, and Hawai’i Rules of Evidence (HRE) Rule 

201, and moves this Honorable Court for Judicial Notice of the pubic record documents relating 

to this legal action that are listed below.   

THE DOCUMENTS SOUGHT TO BE JUDICIALLY NOTICED  
 
 The six documents for which Appellants request judicial notice are labeled Exhibits “A” 

through “F” and include the following:  

 
   I. Documents filed with the State of Hawai'i Bureau of Conveyances relating to the current    

status and title of the subject property.   
 
    As will be more fully discussed in the accompanying memorandum, these documents 

directly related to the issue of mootness advanced in Appellees’ Answering Brief. These 

documents evidence that the title to the subject property, TMK (3)-1-3-001-043/049, located at 

13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana Road, Pahoa, Hawaii, is as of this date in the name and possession of 

Paul J. Sulla, an affiliated person, in the capacity of an HHLLC the corporate entity that Paul 

Sulla exclusively created on February 1, 2016, that HHLLC was recently created, and that Paul 

Sulla is the sole organizer, member, manager, and agent.  

 

      Exhibit A. a certified copy of the WARRANTY DEED dated September 6, 2016, from 

JASON HESTER, as an individual, to HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC, by PAUL J. SULLA, JR. 

conveying the subject property, TMK (3)-1-3-001-043/049, located at 13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana 

Road, Pahoa, HI, on September 6, 2016, by JASON HESTER, an individual, to HALAI 

HEIGHTS, LLC. (HHLLC) This public record is available as Doc. A-60960740 at the State of 

Hawaii Bureau of Conveyances, Kalanimoku Building 1151 Punchbowl St. #120, Honolulu 

Hawai'i. A copy of a certified copy of the original document is attached as Exhibit A in the 

accompanying Memorandum. 

Exhibit B. Articles of Organization HALAI HEIGHTS, as a Limited Liability 

Company, State of Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business 

Registration Division, filed February 1, 2016, with Paul J. Sulla listed as organizer, manager, and 

agent, addressed at: 106 Kamehameha Avenue, Hilo, Hawai'i 96720, and P.O. Box 5358, Hilo, 

Hawaii 96720. This document is available as LLC Doc. 20201648616 at State of Hawaii 

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division the main office 
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of which is located at King Kalakaua Building 335 Merchant Street, Honolulu, Hawaii and 

which document is accessible on the internet on the Department’s website and business search 

service. A copy of Exhibit B is attached to the accompanying Memorandum. 

 

      II. Documents on file with the State Judiciary in the related Civ.14-1-0304 action. 

As will be more fully discussed the accompanying memorandum, the following three 

documents for which Appellants seek judicial notice are from the related case of Jason Hester v. 

Leonard G. Horowitz and Sherri Kane, et al. Civ. 14-1-03041, and its pending appeal as CAAP 

16- 0000163 in the Intermediate Court of Appeals. Appellants seek judicial notice of these 

documents in light of Appellee’s argument that this appeal is moot in light of events that have 

occurred since this case was appealed. These documents in this related case evidences what 

happened to Appellee GOB Overseer Hester’s purported interest in the subject property and the 

related mortgage subsequent to appeal in the instant case. These documents are available at Third 

Circuit Court Third Circuit of the State of Hawai'i Judiciary Kona Courthouse located in 

Kealakekua, Hawai'i 79-1020 Haukapila Street, in Civ. 14-1-0304, and said Notice of Appeal is 

available at the Intermediate Court of Appeals in Honolulu Hawai'i, at the Kapuaiwa Building on 

426 Queen Street. A copy of Exhibits C, D, and E are attached to the accompanying 

Memorandum. 

 
Exhibit C: The Final Judgment in Hester v. Horowitz et. al., Civ. No. 14-1-0304, 

dated December 30, 2015, granting Jason Hester quiet title to the subject Property.  

 
Exhibit D: The Writ of Ejectment issued March 1, 2016, authorizing the ejectment of 

Defendants Horowitz et al from the subject property based on the December 30, 2015 Circuit 

Court  Final Judgment in Civ. 14-1-0304.  

 
Exhibit E:  The Notice of Appeal in Civ. 14-1-0304 filed March 13, 2016 (CAAP 16-

                                                
1 The full caption in this case is: JASON HESTER, Plaintiff-Counter-claimant –Appellee v.                
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ, an individual; SHERRI KANE, an individual; MEDICAL 
VERITAS INTERNATIONAL, INC, a California nonprofit corporation; THE ROYAL 
BLOODLINE OF DAVID, a Washington Corporation Sole; JOHN DOES, 1-10, JANE 
DOES 1-10, DOE ENTITIES 1-10, DOE PARTNERSHIPS 1-10, DOE GOVERNMENTAL 
UNITS 1-10. Defendants-Counterclaimant-   Appellants  
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0000163)(without exhibits)  

 
 

III. EXHIBIT F. Document on file in the State of Hawaii Probate Court; Court Minutes    
   from December 11, 2009 in probate proceeding for Jason Hester 3LP09-0000166  

 

As will be more fully discussed in the accompanying memorandum, this document, 

the Court Minutes from the State of Hawaii Probate Court relating to Administration of probate 

of Jason Hester, is relevant to Appellants’ argument on standing of GOB Overseer Hester, and 

the credibility of Paul Sulla, to counter Appellee’s position that GOB Overseer Hester has 

standing. Appellee in its AB opposes Appellants’ argument that the assignment between Lee and 

GOB was invalid and devised to circumvent scrutiny by the probate court that would have 

otherwise followed Lee’s July 27, 2009 death, concerning the relationship between Lee and 

Hester. 

Exhibit F: These Court Minutes from State of Hawaii Probate case 3LP09-1-000166, 

from December 11, 2009, 1:07 pm where it is recorded: “BY SUL[L]A – STATEMENT 

REGARDING ASSETS KNOWN TO HIM THAT CECIL LEE DOESN’T OWN ANYMORE; 

DUE TO FORECLOSURE, NO JUDGMENT CAN BE ENFORCED AND MR. LEE IS 

CERTAINLY OUT OF IT.” This document is available on line through the Hawaii State 

Judiciary’s Public Access to Court Information, searching 3LP09-1-000166, under “Court 

Minutes List” entry of 12/11/2009, described as “Petition for Appointment of Special 

Administrator for the Estate of Cecil Loran Lee.” A copy of this document is easily accessible on 

the internet at the State of Hawaii Judiciary website under the search category “Ho‘ohiki” for 

this civil probate case. 

 

is presented in Exhibit F attached to the accompanying Memorandum.  

 

II. THE RELEVANT RULE OF EVIDENCE 

 Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) § 626-1, Hawaii Rule of Evidence  (HRE) 201, provides 

that judicial notice is permissible at any stage in the litigation and is mandatory when requested 

by a party upon supplying the necessary information.  Specifically, Hawaii HRE 201 “Judicial 

Notice” provides in pertinent part: 

Exhibits for Writ of Certiori 7-27-19 pg. 156



 5 

(a) Scope of rule. This rule governs only judicial notice of adjudicative facts. 
(b) Kinds of facts. A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable 
dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of 
the trial court, or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to 
sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. 
(c) When discretionary. A court may take judicial notice, whether requested or not. 
(d) When mandatory. A court shall take judicial notice if requested by a party and 
supplied with the necessary information. 
(e) Opportunity to be heard. A party is entitled upon timely request to an 
opportunity to be heard as to the propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor of 
the matter noticed. In the absence of prior notification, the request may be made 
after judicial notice has been taken. 
(f) Time of taking notice. Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the 
proceeding. (emphasis added) 

 

JUDICIAL NOTICE IS APPROPRIATE FOR THE REQUESTED PUBLIC RECORDS  
 

     As more fully discussed in the attached Memorandum in support of this Motion, all of the 

above documents being public records and being relevant to issues raised in Appellee’s  

Answering Brief,  therefore judicial notice each of said public records is appropriate at this    

      time. 

 

 

            DATED: Waimea, HI, 96743  January 6, 2017      /s/ Margaret Wille             

                                         ____________________ 
                                         MARGARET WILLE,  

                               Attorney for Appellants 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Hester, Overseer et al v. Horowitz et al; CAAP-16-0000162; Appellants’ Motion For Judicial Notice; 
EXHIBITS “A” thru “F”. 
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Margaret (Dunham) Wille  #8522 
Attorney at Law 
65-1316 Lihipali Road 
Kamuela, Hawaii  96743 
Tel: 808-854-6931 
margaretwille@mac.com 
   Attorney for: 
   Defendant/Counterclaimants-Appellants 
 

 
IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF HAWAI’I  

 
                                       ICA No. CAAP-16-0000162 
 

 
 

JASON HESTER, SUCCESSOR 
OVERSEER, THE OFFICE OF 
THE OVERSEER AND HIS 
SUCCESSOR, OVER/FOR THE 
POPULAR ASSEMBLY OF 
REVITALIZE, A GOSPEL OF 
BELIEVERS                          
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant-
Appellee 
 
 vs. 
 
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ; AND 
THE ROYAL BLOODLINE OF 
DAVID  
Defendants/Counterclaimants -
Appellants 

   ) Civ. No. 05-1-0196 
) THIRD CIRCUIT COURT 
) Appeal of Fifth Amended    
) Final Judgment  
) 
) MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF   
) APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR  
) JUDICIAL NOTICE  
) [HAWAII RULES OF EVIDENCE 
) RULE 201]  
) DECLARATION OF MARGARET WILLE; 
) EXHIBITS  “A” TO “F”  
) CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE. 

   
  
) 
) 
  

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 
APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE  

[HAWAII RULES OF EVIDENCE RULE 201] 
 
 

This Memorandum is filed in support of Defendants/Counterclaimants-Appellants 

LEONARD G. HOROWITZ and the ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID (RBOD) 

“APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE (pursuant to HRAP Rule 27 and 

HAWAII RULES OF EVIDENCE RULE 201), that moves this Honorable Court for Judicial 

Notice of the pubic record documents relating to this legal action, including Exhibits “A” 

through “F” described below. 

Electronically Filed
Intermediate Court of Appeals
CAAP-16-0000162
06-JAN-2017
11:49 AM

Exhibits for Writ of Certiori 7-27-19 pg. 158



 2 

 

 As set forth in the accompanying Motion, Appellants are seeking judicial notice  of six 

public documents, 1) Exhibit A: a certified copy of a deed recorded in the State of Hawai'i 

Bureau of Conveyances, Kalanimoku Building 1151 Punchbowl St. #120, Honolulu Hawai'i.; 2) 

Exhibit B: a certified copy of Articles of Organization for a limited liability company recorded 

at the State of Hawaii Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs State of Hawaii 

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division, the main 

office of which is located at King Kalakaua Building 335 Merchant Street, Honolulu, and which 

document is available on the internet on the Department’s website and business search service; 

3) Exhibits C – E: the Final Judgment, Writ of Ejectment, and Notice of Appeal in a related 

circuit court case and the pending appeal in that related case, all of which are public records 

available at Circuit Court – Third Circuit State of Hawai'i Judiciary Kona Courthouse located in 

Kealakekua, Hawaii, and said Notice of Appeal is available at the Intermediate Court of Appeals 

in Honolulu Hawai'i, at the Kapuaiwa Building on 426 Queen Street; and, 4) Exhibit F: State of 

Hawai'i Probate Court Record Minutes from December 11, 2009 for Probate case 3LP09-1-

000166, under “Court Minutes List” described as “Petition for Appointment of Special 

Administrator for the Estate of Cecil Loran Lee.” which public record is readily accessible on the 

internet at the State of the Hawai'i Judiciary website, Public Access site, under the search 

category: “Ho‘ohiki” for this civil probate case. Copies of each of these Exhibits are attached 

hereto.  

 

 I. THE RELEVANT LEGAL FRAMEWORK:  

 Hawaii Revised Statutes § 626-1, Hawai'i Rule of Evidence  (HRE) 201, provides that 

judicial notice is permissible at any stage in the litigation and is mandatory when requested by a 

party upon supplying the necessary information.  Specifically, HRE 201 “Judicial Notice” 

provides in pertinent part: 

 
(a) Scope of rule. This rule governs only judicial notice of adjudicative facts. 
(b) Kinds of facts. A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to 

reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial 
jurisdiction of the trial court, or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination 
by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. 
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(c) When discretionary. A court may take judicial notice, whether requested 
or not. 

(d) When mandatory. A court shall take judicial notice if requested by a party 
and supplied with the necessary information. 

(e) Opportunity to be heard. A party is entitled upon timely request to an 
opportunity to be heard as to the propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor 
of the matter noticed. In the absence of prior notification, the request may be 
made after judicial notice has been taken. 

(f) Time of taking notice. Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the 
proceeding. 

 
 II. THE DOCUMENTS SOUGHT TO BE JUDICIALLY NOTICED.  

 The six documents listed below, here sought to be judicially noticed, are public records 

readily available to the public and are relevant to the Appellee’s arguments relating to the issues 

of mootness and standing, and are therefore appropriate for judicial notice.  

 A. EXHIBITS A and B:  Exhibit A. The September 6, 2016 warranty conveying 
the subject property from Jason Hester, as an individual, to Halai Heights, a Limited Liability 
Company (HHLLC), by Paul J. Sulla, Jr., and Exhibit B, HHLLC’s Articles of Organization 

 These documents directly related to the issue of mootness raised in Appellees’s 

Answering Brief (AB) 19-22, and evidence that the title to the subject property, TMK (3)-1-3-

001-043/049, located at 13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana Road, Pahoa, Hawai'i, is as of this date in the 

name and possession of Paul J. Sulla, in the capacity of a limited liability company that Paul 

Sulla created on February 1, 2016, registered on that date with the State of Hawaii Department of 

Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division, of which Paul Sulla is the 

organizer, member, manager, and agent.  

 These documents evidence the current title of the subject property and evidence that the property 

is in the possession of Paul Sulla. (Appellants however are not seeking judicial notice for the 

validity of the documents or the truth of what is stated in the documents.)  

  Since the Spring of 2008, Paul Sulla has been the attorney in this case, first, following the 

February 2008 trial, on behalf of original plaintiff seller-mortgagee Lee, and then following the 

assignment of the subject mortgage from Lee to “The Popular Assembly of Revitalize, A Gospel 

of Believers” (“GOB”) with Lee as Overseer and Hester as Successor Overseer, on behalf of 

Jason Hester in his capacity as GOB Successor Overseer and individually. Hester has not 
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testified or submitted any affidavits, and instead Sulla has been Hester’s “face” throughout the 

proceedings. Based on events that have occurred and on irregularities and discrepancies that have 

appeared while this case has been pending on appeal, Sulla also appears to be the mastermind of 

this scheme to acquire the subject property for himself or an affiliated entity or person. By way 

of these documents, Appellants respond to Appellee’s argument that the case is moot because 

neither the named Appellee and Appellants no longer have possession or title to the subject 

property. AB 19-22.  As these documents evidence however, although the property is no longer 

in the possession of GOB Overseer Hester or Appellants, it is currently in the possession and title 

of an affiliated party, Paul Sulla’s HHLLC, and not in the possession of an unaffiliated third 

party good faith bona fide purchaser.   

 

 Exhibit A. WARRANTY DEED dated September 6, 2016, from JASON HESTER, as an 

individual, to HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC, by PAUL J. SULLA, JR. conveying the subject property, 

TMK (3)-1-3-001-043/049, located at 13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana Road, Pahoa, Hawai'i, on 

September 6, 2016, by JASON HESTER, an individual, to HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC. This public 

record is available Doc. A-60960740 at the State of Hawaii Bureau of Conveyances. A certified 

copy of said Warranty Deed, is attached hereto as Exhibit A.   

 
Exhibit B. The Articles of Organization for HHLLC filed with the State of Hawaii 

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division on February 1, 

2016, with Paul J. Sulla listed as organizer, manager, and agent, addressed at: 106 Kamehameha 

Avenue, Hilo, 96720, and P.O. Box 5358, Hilo, Hawai'i 96720. This document is available on-

line through the Department’s website and business search service (LLC Doc. 20201648616). A 

certified copy said Articles of Organization, is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  

 

B. EXHIBITS C, D, AND E: Court Entries in Related Case Civ. 14-1-0304 Jason Hester  
  vs RBOD, Leonard G. Horowitz and Sherri Kane et al 

 
In order to respond to Appellee’s argument that this case is moot and should be 

dismissed, AB 19-22, Appellants seek to refute the position that events have occurred since the 

trial such that this case is now moot and that in the event Horowitz were to prevail on one of the 

points of error, a remedy would nevertheless no longer be available. These documents show the 
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outcome in this related case that resulted in the ejectment of Horowitz and his RBOD co-

successor in interest, Sherri Kane from the subject property, and the transfer of the property title 

from GOB Overseer Hester to Jason Hester as an individual.  The Notice of Appeal in this 

related case is sought to be judicially noticed to establish that this related case that is premised on 

the errors made in the instant case, is now likewise under appeal. In determining where there is a 

remedy available in the event Horowitz prevails, these documents also demonstrate  that the 

Intermediate Court of Appeals currently also has jurisdiction over Jason Hester as an individual.  

 
Exhibit C: The Final Judgment in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, dated December 30, 2015, 

granting Jason Hester quiet title to the subject Property, is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

 
Exhibit D: The Writ of Ejectment issued March 1, 2016, authorizing the 

Defendants/Appellants to be ejected from the subject property based on the Circuit Court’s final 

judgment in Civ. 14-1-0304, is attached hereto as Exhibit D.  

 
Exhibit E:  The Notice of Appeal in Civ. 14-1-0304 filed March 13, 2016 as CAAP 

16-0000163, is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

C. EXHIBIT F: Related Probate Court Minutes  
 

This document is relevant to Appellants’ argument on standing of GOB Overseer 

Hester, and the credibility of Paul Sulla, to counter Appellee’s position that the case is moot and 

GOB Overseer Hester has standing as the real party in interest and that the assignment from Lee 

to GOB was valid. AB 19-22, 34. Contrariwise, Appellants’ position is that GOB Overseer 

Hester does not have standing, that the assignment was void, and that in light of all the 

irregularities and discrepancies – including as evidenced in this document, that consideration of 

the issue of GOB Overseer Hester’s standing is justified at this stage in the proceedings.  

According to these Court Minutes Paul Sulla represented to the probate judge that 

Lee’s estate had no assets “due to foreclosure”. It appears that Sulla sought to avoid informing 

the Probate Court that Lee no longer had any assets because he carried out an assignment of 

Lee’s interest if any in the subject mortgage to some entity named GOB with a successor in 

interest to someone named Jason Hester– who is not a member of his immediate family – and 

may not have any kinship relationship whatsoever to the deceased, Cecil Loran Lee, “for $10. 
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and other consideration.” Had Paul Sulla responded truthfully concerning the disposition of 

Lee’s property, this would likely have elicited further inquiry by the Probate Judge concerning 

Jason Hester and his relationship to Lee, that is, matters relating to Hester’s standing and the 

validity of the mortgage assignment to GOB.  Appellants refer to this document, not for the truth 

of what was said, and not as to the complete accuracy of the representation of what was said, but 

rather as one of the “red flags” that along with other discrepancies, justifies consideration of 

GOB Overseer Hester’s standing and reflects on the lack of credibility on the part Paul Sulla – 

who based on this and other irregularities appears to be the mastermind in the complex scheme to 

acquire the subject property, with nominal named substitute plaintiff, Jason Hester, only a 

strawman for Sulla.   

 

Exhibit F: Probate Court proceeding, Court Minutes of December 11, 2009, 1:07 pm in 

Probate Case 3LP09-1-000166, where it is recorded: “BY SUL[L]A – STATEMENT 

REGARDING ASSETS KNOWN TO HIM THAT CECIL LEE DOESN’T OWN ANYMORE; 

DUE TO FORECLOSURE, NO JUDGMENT CAN BE ENFORCED AND MR. LEE IS 

CERTAINLY OUT OF IT.” is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

 

III. DISCUSSION:   Consistent with HRE 201, all of the above six documents are public 

records that are readily accessible to the public and therefore are “capable of accurate and ready 

determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.”  Exhibits A 

to E are documents evidencing the progression of GOB Overseer Hester’s claimed interest in the 

subject property and mortgage up to the conveyance from Jason Hester as an individual to Halai 

Heights LLC, the limited liability company formed by Paul Sulla, that now holds title to GOB 

Overseer Hester’s interest in the subject property. The chain of title from GOB Hester to the 

present is therefore relevant to the mootness and standing arguments in this case, and evidence 

that the property is not in the hands of any unaffiliated good faith bona fide purchaser.    

        Exhibit F relates to Sulla’s representations concerning the disposition of the subject 

property and amounts to a “red flag” with respect to the “standing” issue and points to the lack of 

credibility of Paul Sulla, who appears to be the mastermind behind a scam to acquire the subject 

property in his name or that of an affiliated party.  
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 Because these documents are public records that relate to the matters on appeal in the 

instant case, Judicial Notice is appropriate. Kaho'ohanohano v. State, 114 Haw. 302, 328, 162 

P.3d 696, 722 (2007) (the court may take judicial notice of public records)  See e.g. In re Thomas 

H. Gentry Revocable Trust, 138 Haw. 158, 172, 378 P.3d 874, 888, reconsideration denied, 138 
Haw. 50, 375 P.3d 1288 (2016) (wherein the Court granted judicial notice in the context of 

rebutting the opposing party’s claim the case was moot for a warranty deed, because it was “a 

matter of pubic record and easily verifiable, and germane to the issues in this appeal”). 

    

IV. CONCLUSION:  
 

For the above reasons, Judicial Notice is mandatory and appropriate  for each of these 

public records. 

 

 DATED: Waimea, HI, 96743  January  6, 2017 

                                                                                   /s/ Margaret Wille         

                      ________________ 

               MARGARET WILLE,  

             Attorney for Appellants RBOD and Leonard Horowitz 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Hester, Overseer et al v. Horowitz et al; CAAP-16-0000162; Appellants’ Motion For Judicial 
Notice; EXHIBITS “A” thru “F”.  
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Margaret (Dunham) Wille  #8522 
Attorney at Law 
65-1316 Lihipali Road 
Kamuela, Hawaii  96743 
Tel: 808-854-6931 
margaretwille@mac.com 
   Attorney for: 
   Defendant/Counterclaimants-Appellants 
 

 
IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF HAWAI’I  

 
                                       ICA No. CAAP-16-0000162 
 

 
 

JASON HESTER, Overseer The 
Office Of Overseer, Overseer 
For The Popular Assembly Of 
Revitalize, A Gospel Of 
Believers                          
     Plaintiffs/Counterclaim     

Defendants-Appellees 
 
 vs. 
 
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ; 
AND THE ROYAL 
BLOODLINE OF DAVID  
     Defendants/Counterclaimants 

-Appellants 

   ) Civ. No. 05-1-0196 
) THIRD CIRCUIT COURT 
) Appeal of Fifth Amended    
) Final Judgment  
) 
)  
) DECLARATION OF ATTORNEY  
) MARGARET WILLE IN SUPPORT OF 
) APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDICIAL 
) NOTICE [HRE RULE 201] 
)  
 
 

 

 

 
DECLARATION OF ATTORNEY MARGARET WILLE IN SUPPORT OF  

APPELLANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE  
[HAWAII RULES OF EVIDENCE RULE 201] 

 
 

 I, MARGARET (DUNHAM) WILLE, under pain of perjury of law, do hereby 

state and declare as follows:  

1) I am an individual over the age of twenty-one (21) years, a resident of the State and 

County of Hawai‘i. 

2) I am licensed to practice law before the Courts of Hawai‘i. 
 

Electronically Filed
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CAAP-16-0000162
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3) As of June 29, 2015, I have been the attorney for Defendant-Appellants LEONARD 

G. HOROWITZ and THE ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID and am representing 

these Defendants in the appeal of the Circuit Court’s Fifth Amended Final Judgment. 

 

4) The facts set forth in the accompanying Appellants’ Motion For Judicial Notice and 

in the Memorandum in Support of Appellants’ Motion For Judicial Notice, are true 

to the best of my knowledge and belief.  

 

5)  Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of a Certified copy of a WARRANTY DEED 

dated September 6, 2016, from JASON HESTER, as an individual, to HALAI 

HEIGHTS, LLC, by PAUL J. SULLA, JR. conveying the subject property, TMK 

(3)-1-3-001-043/049, located at 13-3775 Pahoa-Kalapana Road, Pahoa, HI. 

 

6) Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of the Articles of Organization of HALAI 

HEIGHTS, as a Limited Liability Company, State of Hawaii Department of 

Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business Registration Division, filed February 1, 

2016. 

 

8) Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of the Final Judgment issued December 30, 2015 

in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, granting Jason Hester quiet title to the subject Property. 

 

9) Exhibit D is a true and correct copy of the Writ of Ejectment issued March 1, 2016 in 

Civ. No. 14-1-0304, authorizing the ejectment of Horowitz and RBOD co-successor 

in interest Sherri Kane. 

 

9) Exhibit E is a true and correct copy of the Notice of Appeal in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, 

filed by Appellants on March 13, 2016 as CAAP 16-0000163.  

 

10) Exhibit F is a true and correct copy of the Probate Court minutes record in 3LP09- 
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1-000166 Cecil Loran Lee Probate Administration from December 11, 2009.  

 

FURTHER DECLARANT SAYETH NAUGHT  

 

 This Declaration is based upon my personal knowledge and I am competent to  

testify as to the truth of the statements contained herein.  

 

Dated:  Waimea Hawaii 967443:  January 6, 2017  

 

 

                  Signed:     /s/Margaret Wille 

      MARGARET (DUNHAM) WILLE 
Attorney for Defendants   
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ and 
THE ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jason Hester, Overseer v. Leonard G. Horowitz et al, ICA No. CAAP-16-0000162; 
Declaration Of Attorney Margaret Wille In Support Of Appellants’ Motion and 
Memorandum for Judicial Notice; Exhibits “A” through “F”.  
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Margaret (Dunham) Wille  #8522 
 Attorney at Law 
 65-1316 Lihipali Road 
 Kamuela, Hawaii  96743 
 Tel: 808-854-6931 
 margaretwille@mac.com 
  
Attorney for: 
Defendants/Counterclaimants 
Leonard G. Horowitz and  
the Royal Bloodline of David 
 

 
INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS 

STATE OF HAWAII 
 

               ICA No. CAAP-16-0000162 
 

 

 
 
JASON HESTER, OVERSEER 
THE OFFICE OF OVERSEER, A 
CORPORATE SOLE AND HIS 
SUCCESSORS, OVER/FOR THE 
POPULAR ASSEMBLY OF 
REVITALIZE, A GOSPEL OF 
BELIEVERS.  

   Plaintiff-Appellee,  
               v. 
 
LEONARD G. HOROWITZ et al 
 Defendants-Counterclaimants –
Appellants, et al  

 
 

    ) TRIAL CIV. NO. 05-1-0196 
) (foreclosure) 
)  
) 
)     EXHIBITS “A” through “F”  
)     In Support of Appellants’ Motion for  
)     Judicial Notice; Memorandum in Support 
)     of Appellants’ Motion for Judicial Notice 
) 

) 
) 
  

 

                                            EXHIBITS “A” THROUGH “F” 

In Support of Appellants’ Motion for Judicial Notice; Memorandum in Support 
of Appellants’ Motion for Judicial Notice 
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             INDEX TO EXHIBITS “A” THROUGH “F” 

In Support of Appellants’ Motion for Judicial Notice; 
Memorandum in Support 

of Appellants’ Motion for Judicial Notice 
                 

 
 
Ex:  Title:                           Page No.: 
 
 
A. WARRANTY DEED dated September 6, 2016, from JASON HESTER,  
 as an individual, to HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC, by PAUL J. SULLA, JR. …..…1  
 
 
B. Articles of Organization of HALAI HEIGHTS, LLC, State of Hawaii  
 Department  of Commerce and Consumer Affairs, Business  
 Registration Division, filed February 1, 2016……………………………...…9 
 
 
C. Final Judgment in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, December 30, 2015. ……………..…..14 
 
 
D. Writ of Ejectment issued in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, March 1, 2016. ………….….18 
 
 
F. Notice of Appeal in Civ. No. 14-1-0304, March 13, 2016………….……..…....20 
 
 
C. Probate court record in 3LP09-1-000166 pursuant to Sulla acknowledging  
 “Lee doesn’t own anymore.” from December 11, 2009. …………………..22 
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Electronically Filed 
Supreme Court 
SCOT -18-0000972 
08-JAN-2019 
09:25AM 

SCOT-18-0000972 


IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF HAWAI'I 


LEONARD G. HOROWITZ and SHERRI KANE, 

Petitioners/Complainants, 


vs,; 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, as Executive Director of the 

Office of the Disciplinary Counsel; and 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, LLLC, Respondent. 


ORIGINAL PROCEEDING 

ASSIGNMENT OF SUBSTITUTE JUSTICE 
(By: Recktenwald, C.J.) 

TO THE HONORABLE JAMES H. ASHFORD, Judge of the Circuit Court of 
the First Circuit, State of Hawai'i: 

You are hereby assigned, pursuant to article VI, § 2 

of the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i, to sit with the 

justices of the Supreme Court of the State of Hawai'i, in place 

of the undersigned Chief Justice, recused, to consider and 

determine the above-entitled cause. 

DATED: Honolulu, Hawai'i, January 8, 2019. 

/s/ Mark E. Recktenwald 

Chief Justice 
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Electronically Filed 
Supreme Court 
SCPW-19-0000035 
09-JAN-2019 
02:51 PM 

NOTICE OF ASSIGNMENT OF SUBSTITUTE JUDGE 


ORIGINALLY FILED IN CASE NO.: 

SCOT-18-0000972, ON DECEMBER 28, 2018 
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28-DEC-2018 
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SCOT-18-0000972 


IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OFHAWAI'I 


LEONARD G. HOROWITZ and SHERRI KANE, 

Petitioners/Complainants, 


vs. 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, as Executive Director of the 

Office of the Disciplinary Counsel; and 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, LLLC, Respondent. 


ORIGINAL PROCEEDING 

CERTIFICATE OF RECUSAL 
(By: Recktenwald, C.J.) 

The undersigned Chief Justice hereby recuses himself 

from sitting as a member of the Supreme Court of the State of 

Hawai'i in the above~entitled proceeding, except to the extent 

necessary for him to assign a substitute justice or justices. 

DATED: Honolulu, Hawai'i, December 28, 2018~ 

/s/ Mark E. Recktenwald 

Chief Justice 
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:RECUSAL 


ORIGINALLY FILED IN CASE NO.: 

SCOT-18-0000972, ON DECEMBER 28,2018 
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Electronically Filed 
Supreme Court 
SCOT -18-0000972 
28-DEC-2018 
12:20 PM 

A COMPLAINT FOR ALLEGED 

VIOLATIONS OF RULES AND LAWS BY 


BRADLEY R. TAMM 

PURSUANT TO ODC COMPLAINTS 18-0258 AND 18-0259 


AGAINST PAUL J. SULLA, JR. AND 

cSTEPHEN~D.WHJ.TTAKE~ RESPECTJYELY, 


INTERTWINED WITH THE COMPLAINT AGAINST 

GARY V. DUBIN, 18-02012 


Submitted by: 

LEONARD G. HOROWITZ, Complainant 

and SHERRI KANE, Complainant 


5348 Vegas Drive, Suite 353 

Las Vegas, NV 89108 


E~mail: editor@medicalveritas.org; 

Telephone: 310-877~3002 


RELEVANT TO INTERNAL AFFAIRS OF: 

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF HAWAII; 

THE HAWAII STATE ETHICS COMMISSION 

and 

THE COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

~I~D!~: ~~I~; 

SUPREME COURT 

CLERK'S OFFICE 
 1 Exhibits for Writ of Certiori 7-27-19 pg. 198
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PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMus 

ORIGINALLY FILED IN CASE NO.: 

SCOT-18-0000972, ON DECEMBER 28,2018 
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NOTE: The attached Order was originally filed in 
SCOT-18-0000972 on January 9, 2019. 

Exhibits for Writ of Certiori 7-27-19 pg. 200



Electronically Filed 
Supreme Court 
SCOT -18-0000972 
09-JAN-2019 
01:47 PM 

SCOT-18-0000972 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE S:TATE OF HAWAI'I 

--~~~~-liE0NARf)-G-.- H0ROW-IT'Z and--£HE-RRI-KANE~j . 
Petitioners/Complainants, 

vs. 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, as Executive Director of the 

Office of the Disciplinary Counsel; and 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, LLLC, Respondent. 


ORIGINAL PROCEEDING 


ORDER 

(By: Pollack, J.) 


Upon review of the complaint dated December 14, 2018 

against Bradley Tamm, Chief Disciplinary Counsel for the Office 

of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) , submitted to this court by Leonard 

G. Horowitz and Sherri Kane and entered into the Judiciary 

Information Management System as Horowitz et al. v. Tamm et al., 

SCOT-18-972, on December 28, 2018, this matter should be deemed a 

petition for a writ of mandamus against Tamm. Therefore, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the clerk of the court shall 

enter this order into SCOT-18-972 and then thereafter shall 

administratively close SCOT-18-972. 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the clerk of the court shall 

thereafter create a new, SCPW case, and enter in the SCPW case, 

in the following sequence, this order, the complaint originally 

filed the SCOT case at Docket 1, and the recusal filed 

December 28, 2018 by the Chief Justice in SCOT-18-972. The clerk 

shall, however, place a cover sheet on the complaint and recus 

indicating they were originally filed in SCOT-18-972 on December 

28, 2018. 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the filing fee for the 

petition is waived. 

DATED: Honolulu, Hawai'i, January 9, 2019. 

/s/ Richard W. Pollack 

Associate Justice 
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SCOT-18-0000972 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF HAWAI'r 

LEONARDG. HOROWITZarrd-SHERRI KANE, 
Petitioners/Complainants, 

'\ 

vs. 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, as Executive Director of the 

Office of the Disciplinary Counsel; and 


BRADLEY R. TAMM, LLLC, Respondent. 


ORIGINAL PROCEEDING 


ORDER 

(By: Pollack, J.) 


Upon review of the complaint dated December 14, 2018 

against Bradley Tamm, Chief Disciplinary Counsel for the Of·fice 

of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC), submitted to this court by Leonard 

G. Horowitz and Sherri Kane and entered into the JUdiclary 

Information Management System as Horowitz et al. v. Tarnm et al., 

SCOT-18-972, on December 28, 2018, this matter should be deemed a 

petition for a writ of mandamus against 'l'amm. Therefore, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the clerk of the court shall 

enter this order into SCOT-18-972 and then thereafter shall 

administratively close SCOT-18-972. 
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the clerk of the court shall 

thereafter create a new, SCPW case, and enter in the SCPW case, 

in the following sequence, this order, the complaint originally 

filed in the SCOT case at Docket 1, and the recusal filed 

December 28, 2018 by the Chief Justice in SCOT-18-972. The clerk 

shall, however, place a cover sheet on the complaint and recusal, 

indicating they were originally filed in SCOT-18-972 on December 

28, 2018. 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the filing for the 

petition is waived. 

DATED: Honolulu, Hawai'i, January 9, 2019. 

/s/ Richard W. Pollack 

Associate Justice 
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SCPW-19-0000035 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF HAWAIʻI 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

LEONARD G. HOROWITZ and SHERRI KANE, 

Petitioners/Complainants, 

 

vs. 

 

BRADLEY R. TAMM, as Executive Director of the 

Office of Disciplinary Counsel; and 

BRADLEY R. TAMM, LLLC, Respondents.                         

________________________________________________________________ 

 

ORIGINAL PROCEEDING 

 

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS 

(By: Nakayama, Acting C.J., McKenna and Wilson, JJ., and  

Circuit Judge Ashford, in place of Recktenwald, C.J., recused, 

and Circuit Judge Wong, in place of Pollack, J., recused) 

 

  Upon consideration of petitioners Leonard G. Horowitz 

and Sherri Kane’s complaint against Bradley Tamm, Chief 

Disciplinary Counsel for the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 

filed on December 14, 2018 (which this court construes as a 

petition for writ of mandamus), the documents submitted in 

support thereof, and the record, it appears that petitioners 

fail to demonstrate that they have a clear and indisputable 

right to the requested relief or that they lack alternative 

means to seek relief.  Petitioners are not entitled to a writ of 

mandamus.  See Kema v. Gaddis, 91 Hawaiʻi 200, 204-05, 982 P.2d 

334, 338-39 (1999) (a writ of mandamus is an extraordinary 

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court
SCPW-19-0000035
21-FEB-2019
08:01 AM
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remedy that will not issue unless the petitioner demonstrates a 

clear and indisputable right to relief and a lack of alternative 

means to redress adequately the alleged wrong or obtain the 

requested action).  Accordingly, 

  IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the petition for writ of 

mandamus is denied.   

  DATED:  Honolulu, Hawaiʻi, February 21, 2019. 

      /s/ Paula A. Nakayama 

      /s/ Sabrina S. McKenna   

      /s/ Michael D. Wilson 

      /s/ Paul B. K. Wong 

      /s/ James H. Ashford 
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LEONARD G. HOROWITZ 

5348 Vegas Drive, Suite 353 

Las Vegas, NV 89108 

Tel: 310-877-3002;  

Email: Editor@MedicalVeritas.org 

 

 

 

IN THE CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF HAWAI’I         
 

 

 

LEONARD G. HOROWITZ, 

 Defendant-Counterclaimant  

Appellant-Complainant  

 

                          v. 

 

GLENN S. HARA; RONALD   

IBARRA; ELIZABETH 

STRANCE; 

MELVIN H. FUJINO; LISA M. 

GINOZA; KATHERINE G. 

LEONARD; ALEXA D.M. 

FUJISE; STATE OF HAWAII; 

John Does 1-50; Jane Does 1-50    

 

 

, ) NO. _____________________ 

) (Discriminatory deprivation of rights and 

)  properties; (HRS) §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2)) 

)  

) 

) CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

) for VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

  

 

                          CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE FOR VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 27th day of August, 2019 I served a true and correct copy 

of the foregoing COMPLAINT [HRS) §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2))]; Appendix A; Affidavit 

of Leonard G. Horowitz; EXHIBITS “1” thru “10” by the method described below to: 
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	COMPLAINT TO CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISSION.pdf
	NOW COMES Complainant LEONARD G. HOROWITZ (hereafter, “Complainant” or “Horowitz”) pursuant to Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) §§ 368-11 and 515-3(2), filing this Verified Complaint with the Civil Rights Commission seeking declaratory and injunctive rel...
	Public records attached hereto provide proof of discriminatory animus, retaliation, and deprivation of the Complainant’s due process rights and properties, including the real Property, under color of law committed by the judges. Their actions are al...
	42 U.S. Code § 1983 - Civil action for deprivation of rights, states in relevant parts:
	A body of related case law pursuant to “standing” was reviewed in Rankin v. Howard, 633 F. 2d 844 - Court of Appeals, 9th Circuit 1980. The Ninth Circuit concluded, “If a court lacks jurisdiction over a party,” as all the Respondents lack here with ...
	B. The Respondents deprived Horowitz of his due process rights, money, and justice by the aforementioned torts and crimes consummated July 22, 2019 when the Tribunal deemed “waived” (on Exhibits pp. 10-11) the issue of the Complainant’s $200,000 jury ...
	The Respondents had many chances to adjudicate honorably, to correct their alleged torts and crimes and justly dispose of these matters.  A just ruling by the appellate Tribunal respecting the facts, laws, and rules of the courts, including HRCP Ru...
	B-1. The MO records the “final act” in the commission of illegal seizure of the Complainant’s $200,000 purchase Mortgage funds by fraud.
	The MO of May 2, 2019 contains a treasure-trove of criminal evidence not to be missed by fact finders. The MO clearly shows Judges Ginoza, Fujise, and Leonard arbitrarily and capriciously neglected their duty to examine the ROA and supplemental fili...
	To the contrary, “Waiver of a defendant's fundamental rights must be knowing and voluntary, and must come directly from the defendant. State v. Murray, 169 P. 3d 955 - Haw: Supreme Court 2007. The Complainant neither knowingly, voluntarily, or factu...
	Clear-and-convincing evidence was readily available in the ROA to verify this first key issue—the untimely Rule 50(a) MJML filed by Mortgagee Lee resulting in the $200,000 seizure.
	To justify their neglect and concealment of the ROA, and divert from its sufficiency of probative evidence, the Tribunal over-extended, thus misrepresented, HRAP Rules 10 and 11.
	The Tribunal then justified its willful blindness to the facts in the ROA by blaming the victim, the Complainant, for neglecting HRAP Rules 10 and 11 not neglected by Horowitz at all.
	The Tribunal contrived this lame excuse to evade its duty under HRCJC Rule 2.7, and avoid confirming the criminal impositions suffered by Horowitz by acts of Sulla and their fellow judges. “A willfully blind defendant is one who took deliberate acti...
	In vetting “Conspiracy to Defraud,” the ICA in Fisher v. Grove Farm Co., Inc., 230 P. 3d 382 - Haw: Intermediate Court of Appeals 2009, relied on “Black's Law Dictionary 685 (8th ed. 2004) [that] defines "fraud" as "[a] knowing misrepresentation of ...
	This was how and why the Tribunal, by its MO, evidenced a pattern and practice of depriving the Complainant of his right to due process, right to the $200,000 jury awarded funds, and right to gain prompt finality in the consolidated cases.  All of t...
	The Tribunal evaded this injustice by misrepresenting HRAP Rules 10 and 11 concerning the ordering of oral transcripts. This was a ploy—a “red herring” used for burden-shifting and justifying more litigations.  The clear language of HRAP Rules 10 an...
	HRAP Rule 10 makes crystal clear, “When an appellant desires to raise any point on appeal that requires consideration of the oral proceedings . . .  as the appellant deems necessary that are not already on file in the appeal[,]” only then shall the ...
	Appendix “A” further details why oral transcripts were superfluous to the ROA. This review of the court record analyzed the movant’s false arguments raised to support the untimely 50(a) motion. Oral transcripts needed to prove this alleged fraud upo...
	Rule 50(a)(2) only permits, “Motions for judgment as a matter of law . . . made at any time before submission of the case to the jury.” [Emphasis added.] This does not permit filing three weeks too late, after the verdict was filed. The Supreme Cour...
	"`Substantial evidence' [in this case of Rule 50 filing untimeliness and court’s “error” in granting Sulla the favor(s) evidenced in the ROA] is credible evidence which is of sufficient quality and probative value to enable a person of reasonable ca...
	B-2. The Tribunal purposely neglected the “Elephant Under the Carpet” to deprive the Complainant of his money and property.
	The seven Respondents disregarded written notices exposing and evidencing the “proper party plaintiff,” Sulla. Judge Ibarra and the ICA judges were given Judicial Notice of public records proving Sulla’s “sham Plaintiff” Hester was (is) a judgment-p...
	The ICA aided-and-abetted Sulla, Sulla’s fraudulent concealment of his own conflicting interests, Hester’s lacking interests, the courts’ lacking jurisdiction over these proceedings (both personal and subject matter) while depriving the Complainant ...
	By purposely evading Sulla’s real-party-interest and feigning Hester’s standing, the judges not only had no personal jurisdiction over the prosecution, but also evaded their lacking subject matter jurisdiction since the sham “Plaintiff Hester” had n...
	Instead of administering justice, the ICA neglected the issues raised by Sulla’s conflicting interests and Sulla’s exclusive administration of the illegal non-judicial foreclosure that the ICA did “vacate,” but remanded to further maliciously prosec...
	The ICA also neglected to prevent Sulla’s abuse of processes, and enabled Sulla’s and Ibarra’s decade long complicity in the conspiracy to deprive the Complainant (by alleged malicious prosecution) to continue on remand. This complicity violated, in...
	The Tribunal intentionally neglected and denied Judicially Noticed Public Records proving Sulla’s required joinder as the “proper plaintiff” complicit with Judge Ibarra in the illegal conversion of the Complainant’s money and real Property.
	Supplemental irrefutable proof of the ICA’s complicity in aiding-and-abetting Judge Ibarra’s and Sulla torts and crimes was recorded when the ICA purposely neglected and concealed Sulla’s real party interests and required joinder under HRCP Rules 17...
	B-3. The Tribunal recklessly denied the Complainant’s right of standing to oppose Sulla’s fraudulent transfers by void Assignment of Mortgage and Assignment of Note.
	Even more compelling evidence of the Tribunal’s bad faith depriving the Complainant of his rights to due process and his properties is found in the MO’s p. 8 that states: “our case law makes clear that in a judicial foreclosure, borrowers do not hav...
	This ‘gagging’ compounds the complicit judges’ pattern and practice of misrepresenting facts, rules, laws, even their own case law to retaliate and discriminate against, and deprive the Complainant. Mattos (@ 624) clearly states: “According to Salva...
	Thus, the Tribunal committed once more fraud by omission. They not only disregarded the void, not simply voidable, Assignment of Mortgage and Assignment of Note administered by Sulla. They disregarded and misrepresented their own case law!
	And by remanding and continuing not dismissing the action, the judges affirmed fraudulent transfers of Lee’s void interests in the already paid off Mortgage to the not-yet-legally formed Revitalize corporation.
	B-4. The Tribunal recklessly proceeded without any jurisdiction.
	The MO’s ploys also concealed the judges lacking subject matter jurisdiction in the remanded quiet title action. In fact, no court has any personal or subject matter jurisdiction in any prosecution of Hester v. Horowitz, because Hester never suffere...
	And for what “challenged action” is defendant Horowitz accused after paying his Mortgage off by order of the Ibarra court and demanding a Release of Mortgage?  Depriving Revitalize of the Sulla/Ibarra seized jury-awarded funds? Madness! Actually, re...
	Again, Revitalize, Lee’s sham successor, the transferee, did not even legally exist until months after the final balloon payment was made; and two weeks after the Mortgage and Note Assignments were administered by Sulla, thus voiding the Assignments...
	Therefore, in the instant case, had the Tribunal looked at the substantial evidence before it, the fact-finders would have found fraud, crime and no jurisdiction whatsoever. However, rather than reviewing the evidence as required, the judges failed ...
	C. Alleged criminal violations committed by the seven judicial Respondents to deprive the Complainant’s due process rights and seize his properties.
	Under the aforementioned circumstances, showing discriminatory animus against the Judeo-Christian minister Horowitz, to deprive him and his Royal corporation of their due process rights and properties in favor of Sulla’s religious drug trafficking e...
	The ICA’s failure to preserve and properly administer the jury-awarded-funds brings “an appearance of impropriety whereby their impartiality might reasonably be questioned.” Proutka v. Cronin, 179 P. 3d 1050 - Haw: Supreme Court 2008. The Petitioner...
	These actions by the seven judges, aided-and-abetted by willful blindness, concealment of the evidence, and acting without any jurisdiction in favor of Sulla also violated HRS §705-520 criminal conspiracy law and HRS §702-222 “[l]iability for conduc...
	These facts provide good cause for this Commission to issue injunctive relief by declaratory judgment.  Otherwise, further delay, neglect, and complicity in alleged organized crimes will compound prejudice and damage to the Complainant.
	Lacking injunctive relief, further delay will compound unfair play and further hinder due process and justice.  Failure to enjoin the wrongdoing will favor Sulla and further jeopardize society at risk of Sulla’s ayahuasca (DMT) drug trafficking ente...
	This Civil Rights Commission is therefore requested to enjoin by injunction and/or declaratory judgment, these abuses of processes.
	This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment a statement certifying the ICA’s JUDGMENT ON APPEAL as void for, inter alia, discriminating against the Complainant, and depriving his civil rights to due process and his p...
	This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment a statement terminating further abuses of processes on remand by reason of the judges’ lacking personal and subject matter jurisdictions as aforementioned and proven.
	This Civil Rights Commission is asked to include in its Declaratory Judgment restitution in the amount of $2,017,156.66 in damages, fees and costs (not including interest, statutory or punitive damages) lost by the Complainant provable at trial or o...
	CASE NOS. CAAP-0000162 (CIV. NO. 05-1-0196), CAAP-16-0000163
	(CIV. NO. 14-1-0304), CIV. NO. 12-1-0417, AND CAAP-18-0000584 (CIV. NO. 17-1-0407, SCWC-16-0000162,
	AFFIDAVIT OF LEONARD G. HOROWITZ IN SUPPORT OF COMPLAINT
	3) As of 2001, I have been the Overseer and ‘body corporate’ for Defendant-Appellant THE ROYAL BLOODLINE OF DAVID, that currently, legally, is considered to be in “winding-up” following insolvency and dissolution caused by attorney Paul J. Sulla, Jr.’...
	4) The facts set forth in the accompanying VERIFIED COMPLAINT are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.
	9) Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of the Court’s ORDER DENYING THE MAY 12, 2019 MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION filed May 17, 2019.
	10)  Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of Appellants’ Opposition to Appellee’s Motion to Compel Appellants to Order Transcripts filed June 6, 2016.
	11)  Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of “Appellee Jason Hester’s Motion to Compel Appellants to Order Transcripts . . .” filed June 27, 2016 in the 0162 appeal by Disqualified counsel Paul J. Sulla, Jr., showing Judge Daniel R. Foley “DENIED” thi...
	12) Exhibit 6 is a true and correct screenshot of Judge Ibarra’s “Hearing Minutes” dated April 16, 2008, recording the court’s decision to deny the Appellee’s Motion for Judgment As a Matter of Law or Alternatively New Trial . . .” that states: “COURT...
	13) Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or Alternatively New Trial on Issue of Defendant’s Counterclaim for Fraud and Misrepresentation, filed March 11, 2008 in the trial court.
	14) Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of the Single Jury Question, and Judge Ibarra and the Parties’ Approved Express Jury Instruction on MISREPRESENTATION” filed February 21, 2008 by the jury foreperson.
	15) Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of attorney Sulla’s Motion for Substitution of  Plaintiff attaching the falsely warranted Assignment of Mortgage, and  Assignment of Note into ‘Revitalize’ formed untimely using an “altered” and  forged set of ...
	16) Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of the forensic document examiner’s “Declaration of Beth Chrisman” showing substantial probative evidence of attorney Sulla having “altered” (and forged) the Articles of Incorporation of the “Foreclosing Mortg...
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